
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 6 June 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Culture and 
Visitor Economy 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 14 June 2022 at 10.00 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Judy Stevens (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Robins (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Paul Fellows, Councillor Nikki Manterfield, Councillor Mrs Judy Smith, 
Councillor Jill Thomas and Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later 
date, via the SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Comments from Members of the Public 
 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.   Minutes from the meeting held on 5 April 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 12) 

5.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

To consider actions agreed at the meeting held on 5 April 2022. 
 
 

(Page 13) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

6.   Corporate Plan Key Performance Year End Update 
 

This year-end update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for the year of 2021/22. 
 

(Pages 15 - 24) 

7.   Performance of LeisureSK Ltd 
 

To provide an update to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the performance of LeisureSK Ltd against the 
leisure management contract objectives. 
 

(Pages 25 - 37) 

8.   Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 
 

To provide an update to Culture and Visitor Economy and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the progress and delivery of the Sport and 
Physical Activity Strategy. 
 

(Pages 39 - 50) 

9.   Queen's Baton Relay 
 

To provide an update to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on Grantham’s role in the Queen’s Baton Relay on 
11 July 2022. 
 

(Pages 51 - 57) 

10.   Welcome Back Fund - Lessons Learnt 
 

This report summarises the works, interventions and activities that have 
taken place using the Welcome Back Fund (WBF), and includes lessons 
learned and recommendations for improvement.  
 

(Pages 59 - 78) 

11.   Work Programme 2022-23 
 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022-23. 
 

(Pages 79 - 81) 

12.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

Minutes 
Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Tuesday, 5 April 2022, 10:00am 
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ 

 

 
 

Committee Members present: 
 

Councillor Judy Stevens (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Robins (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 
 

Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Cabinet Member for Leisure)  
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
 

Other Members present 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter  
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 

Officers 
 

Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Karen Whitfield (Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Debbie Roberts (Organisational Development and Change Manager)  
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
   

39. Comments from Members of the Public 
 
Nikki Morphy made the following points in relation to agenda item 6, Arts, Culture and 
Events Service – Implementation of Review and Recommendations: 
 

• She had lived in Stamford for over 30 years and had been very enthusiastic 
supporter of the arts centre for that time.  

3

Agenda Item 4



 

 

• She had concerns over members of staff leaving and the café running at a 
reduced capacity.  

• Herself and her family had attended many shows and classes at the arts 
centre. 

• She raised concern that box office staff were leaving, the box office operation 
hours were to be cut drastically and that only one staff member would be 
‘manning’ the box office.  

• She had submitted a letter to the Stamford Mercury; however an article was 
not published due to insufficient evidence on a sensitive issue.   

• Several email exchanges had been sent to the Chief Executive where specific 
information and a copy of the Arts Review was requested, however no 
response had been given.  

• Changes had been implemented, with one member of box office staff at the 
desk between 10am and 2:30pm. If there was a show on, the box office would 
open for 1 or 2 hours in the evening, however, this had not been publicised.  

• Concern over the location change of the telephone service and the long length 
of waiting times to speak to customer services.  

• She had stated that the Cellar Bar had not been open since before the Covid-
19 pandemic.  

• She highlighted that voluntary groups had not been made aware of the nature 
of the Arts Review. The only information given out regarding the results of the 
Arts Review, had been at meetings of the Council in August and September 
2021.  

• Further correspondence had been sent to the Chief Executive relating to the 
transparency of the way the Arts Review had been carried out and the 
changes implemented, where a response from the Chief Executive was sent.  

 
Andy Pelling made the following points in relation to agenda item 7, Refurbishment of 
Deepings Leisure Centre – results of Community Consultation: 
 

• That he was a resident of Market Deeping and his family had used Deepings 
Leisure Centre.  

• He had been a Parish Councillor for 12 years and was currently part of the 
Neighbourhood Plan Group and Chairman of the Deeping Business 
Community and an organiser of the Deepings Directory. 

• He highlighted that the shorter, community-led consultation had proved to be 
more valuable and had more respondents. 

• That the community felt that the official consultation pre-determined their 
opinions by what had been appointed by the architect. This was why a 
community-led consultation was held.  

• That both surveys show that the community strongly favours retaining the 
learner pool and the café.  

• That the main sports hall could be able to be used for alternative purposes, 
events such as concerts, weddings, business expositions, large meetings, 
theatre productions etc. South Kesteven could possibly hold one of their 
Council meetings in the Deepings. 

• That possible further changes could be made: Acoustic panels on the walls, 
simple suspended lighting rig, a small removable stage in the sports hall could 
be used for other functions.  

4



 

 

• Concerns over the use of public money to compete with private enterprises, 
there were 3 successful private gyms in the Deepings.  

• That the Athene consultation had not stated what facilities would be lost.  

• The community-led consultation had suggested a 30-40 gym stations would 
be sufficient. 

 
40. Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Nikki Manterfield and 
Councillor Judy Smith. 
 
Councillor Helen Crawford substituted for Councillor Judy Smith, for this meeting 
only.  
 
Councillor Gloria Johnson substituted for Councillor Nikki Manterfield, for this meeting 
only.  
 
41. Disclosure of Interests 
 
Councillor Phil Dilks declared that he lived in Deepings St James and that he and his 
family had been former members and occasional users of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre for over 40 years. It was highlighted that the Deepings Leisure Centre was 
also in the Ward that he represented as a Parish, District and County Councillor.  
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter declared that he lived in Deepings St James Ward, 
represented the Deepings and would be a user of the Deepings Leisure Centre when 
it reopened. It was further noted that members of his family were members of 
Deepings Swimming Club.  
 
 
42. Action Notes from the meeting held on 1 February 2022 
 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 
February 2022 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
43. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
The Chairman reported that for the action relating to ‘Merits of a Council-run Deeping 
Market’ there would be no further discussion at the moment, but this item would be 
re-visited in the future.  
 
The Director for Growth and Culture highlighted that an update on the ‘Welcome 
Back Fund’ would be brought back to the Committee to outline how funding had been 
allocated.   
 
A Councillor requested that a report be provided on the ‘Welcome Back Fund’ in 
relation to ‘Bourne in Lights’, including a breakdown of how the money was spent. 
 

5



 

 

The Leader of the Council reminded the Committee that local Town and Parish 
Councils should be consulted and play a leading role in identifying ways in which the 
funding could be utilised.  
 
He also clarified that the Council had been encouraging community groups, parishes 
and towns in recently published editions of SKToday’ and on social media to send 
details of their events to be collated and produced into a special version of the 
document.  
   
 
44. Arts, Culture and Events Service - Implementation of Review and 

Recommendations 
 
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy presented the report which 
outlined progress made in implementing the findings of the independent Arts Review 
carried out by the Council. 
 
Further to recommendations made by the Committee on 8 September 2021 and at a 
subsequent meeting of Cabinet, a full restructure of the team had now been carried 
out, following a robust consultation process with individuals affected.  
 
The consultation attracted a high level of engagement across the team, and some 
changes were made to the final structure which had enabled the service to operate 
more efficiently and provide a better service. The successful conclusion of the 
restructure had also allowed the service to recruit two key positions. It was reported 
that the telephone booking service had been enhanced by transferring it to the 
Council’s Customer Service Team and that a review of the opening hours had 
included the retention of a face-to-face booking service.  
 
The report detailed the further ongoing work over the next 12 months, as detailed 
within the recommendations, and further reports would be presented to the 
Committee at the appropriate time. 
 
The following queries were raised in relation to the report: 
 

• Whether the staffing restructure had been concluded and if all staff were now 
in place.  

• Clarification over Stamford Arts Centre working more efficiently and being a 
better service. 

• Whether the telephone service was more enhanced, contrary to the comments 
raised earlier in the meeting by the public speaker. 

• If the Council had lost more staff than they had expected to lose. 

• The figures relating to the reduction of staff and the savings due to staff 
redundancies. 

• Whether staff had been consulted on how the new structure was working for 
them. 

• Whether any more public feedback had been received in terms of how the box 
office and telephone line were working. 

• How the team were being compensated for the additional work and 
responsibilities due to the merging of jobs.  

6



 

 

• Contingencies in place to cover staff taking holidays.  

• What the Council were doing to ensure staff were feeling valued, supported, 
and having their views listened to.  

 
The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure confirmed that the staffing restructure 
had been concluded, however there were still vacancies in the process of being 
recruited to.  
 
The Chairman noted that some of the questions asked had been answered within the 
report.  
 
The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure reported that, in relation to 
redundancies across the service, every staff member had been consulted, with 
alternative employment having been offered within the Arts Centres and wider 
Council services. Other administrative roles suitable for certain employees were also 
offered, however, they had personally chosen not to pursue them.  
 
It was highlighted that the Council was working hard with the team to ensure they 
had a voice and that they were listened to. There had been a previous problem within 
the arts service relating to the lack of a formal structure however, one-to-ones, 
appraisals and regular team meetings were now in place.  
 
It was confirmed that careful consideration had been made when evaluating the 
structure to cope with all eventualities. As a result of consultation with staff, the 
structure had been amended to ensure the needs of the staff were met. It was 
reported that the Council had achieved the level of savings that were originally 
assessed and supported by the Committee.  
 
It was emphasised that some people would prefer to access the box office via 
telephone rather than online. It was reported that the issues around call waiting times 
had been associated with the change over from calls being received by the box office 
directly to now being dealt with by the Council’s Customer Services Team. Work was 
being undertaken to address this and improve the efficiency of call waiting times, with 
meetings being held every two weeks to monitoring the issue. 
 
Further queries were raised in relation to programming and marketing: 
 

• Whether programming had been affected or if the Council had the same level 
of programming. 

• Concern was raised over the split–fee and that many artists may not consider 
performing at a venue with no guaranteed fee.  

• When the brochures would be mailed out again.  

• Whether the Council had a specialised arts marketing employee.  

• Whether the Council was going to consult the community groups who used the 
art centre. 

 
The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure reported that the changes made as a 
result of staff consultation were made to offer the same level of programming. It was 
confirmed that the split-fee was not a blanket recommendation for the programming 

7



 

 

going forward and that there would be an element of guaranteed fees which would be 
necessary to secure high-quality shows. 
 
Hard copies of brochures were posted out prior to the pandemic and the team was 
currently in consultation regarding the continuation of this, with costings being 
considered.  
 
It was noted as part of the new restructure that a dedicated marketing and 
programming team had been put together and the service now had a Marketing 
Officer.  
 
It was reported that the Council had liaised with a very active community group and 
had achieved a positive outcome, as part of its wider consultation activities with users 
of the service. 
 
It was suggested that Stamford Town Council be encouraged to publicise the 
brochure on its website. 
 
Further concerns were raised regarding the café having reduced hours and the 
continued closure of the Cellar Bar.  
 
The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure confirmed that the brochure and 
programme updates were sent electronically to the email contact addresses the 
Council had access to on its system.  
 
In respect of the café opening hours, she reported that legal advice was being sought 
on the relationship with the café operator with a letter having been sent outlining the 
lease conditions. The Cellar Bar had been closed during the covid pandemic due to 
the lack of ventilation in the bar, however, it was hoped that this would re-open for 
specific events from July 2022 onwards.  
 
It was highlighted that the Council had spent a significant amount of money on the 
roof, customer access point and redecoration work within the centre and more money 
had been delegated within the Capital Programme for more re-roofing work. The 
Council was committed to ensuring that the operation of Stamford Arts Centre 
continued.  
 
A query was raised regarding the running of the café at the Guildhall in Grantham. It 
was further confirmed that the Council had found a new tenant and works were being 
undertaken on heads of terms for the lease.  
 
It was suggested that online sessions with creatives could be re-instated, which had 
been facilitated during lockdown. Arts Council England was encouraging a virtual 
stream to the bid funding and options were being explored.  
 
One Member highlighted that many residents did not have access to emails or the 
internet to access brochures and programme updates online, therefore it would be 
beneficial to post hardcopies of the brochures and programme updates. 
 

8



 

 

It was noted that community groups had started to be charged a fee to use spaces in 
the centre that, prior to the pandemic, they were able to use for free. This had 
resulted in some groups seeking alternative venues. 
 
The Chairman suggested that better collaboration between the delivery of arts 
around the district should be considered. The Assistant Director for Culture and 
Leisure confirmed that the Council would undertake a refresh of the Cultural 
Strategy, with a key objective being to provide the service with a clear identity.  
 
It was emphasised that community groups should continue to register with the 
Council.   
 
One Member queried when meetings of this Committee would be held in the 
community, which could encourage more community groups to attend and enable 
greater engagement, consultation, and interaction with them in person.   
 
ACTION: 
 
That the Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure provides information 
regarding the risks associated with not receiving the funding from Arts Council 
England at the next meeting in June.    
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 
1. Receives a progress update report in six months’ time regarding the 

development of a refreshed Cultural Strategy for the district to provide 
Members with the opportunity to feed into its development to ensure that 
it delivers on corporate objectives. 

 
2. Reviews future management options for the Arts and Cultural Service in 

twelve months’ time. 
 
3.        Receives a progress update by September 2022 on the collaborative bid 

for Lincolnshire for National Portfolio funding from the Arts Council 
(ACE). 

 
 
45. Refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre - Results of Community 

Consultation 
 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure presented the report which outlined the results of 
the Council’s community consultation facilitated by Athene Communications Ltd. 
 
The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure presented a summary of the results 
received to the consultation, which was carried out on behalf of the Council over a 
four-week period. The consultation had been promoted within a 20 minutes’ drive 
time of the existing centre via posters, newsletters, social media, the Council’s 
website, and media adverts.  

9



 

 

 
A good response rate to the survey had been achieved with 737 respondents, 636 
responding online and 101 returning paper forms. The Council also complemented 
the survey with a webinar, where 50 people were in attendance to ask questions to a 
panel.  
 
A summary of the responses was set out in the report, with full responses outlined in 
the appendices. 
 
During the period of community consultation, to ensure that all options had been 
thoroughly investigated, the Council commissioned Paul Weston, Caston Cost 
Consultants and SLC to assess the impact of the retention of the learner pool. This 
was referred to in the report as Option D. 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter presented results from an additional community-led 
consultation which had been carried out by residents of the Deepings.  
 
The additional community-led consultation consisted of a ‘survey monkey’ 
questionnaire where questions had been asked in more depth and about all of the 
facilities people may wish to use at the centre. Councillor Baxter provided a summary 
of the responses to each question, highlighting that the community-led consultation 
received a higher turnout of 831 respondents. 
 
Queries were raised as to why maintenance costs had been omitted from the report, 
why the staffing costs were so high and why there had been no reference to potential 
income from an earlier reopening.  
 
The following questions were asked, or comments were made during discussion: 
 

• Why had only three questions been asked as part of the Council’s 
consultation? 

• Why had a question regarding the learner pool not been asked within the 
consultation? 

• Within the alternative community-led consultation, out of 831 responses, 700 
respondents (86.2%) wanted to keep the learner pool.  

• Why had there been an increase in operating costs and staffing costs? 

• Why had the progress been slow on the developments relating to the lease? 
 
One Member highlighted that the community-led survey had received more 
responses and was cheaper.  
 
It was suggested that the Council should explore all possible carbon neutral and 
energy efficient actions as a result of the declared climate emergency in respect of 
the proposed refurbishments.  
 
A query was raised on the legal position and the Service Level Agreement between 
the Council and the School. 
 
 It was noted that an 80-station gym would not be necessary. 
 

10



 

 

It was confirmed that the Service Level Agreement required was between the 
Anthem Trust (the school), the Department of Education and the Council. Progress 
could not be made until the Service Level Agreement had been completed.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure concluded the report by thanking the Assistant 
Director of Culture and Leisure for the hard work undertaken.  
 
AGREED: 
 
That that the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recommends to Cabinet to accept Option D as the final scheme of 
refurbishment with the proviso that the refurbishment works will only 
commence upon finalisation of the Service Level Agreement between South 
Kesteven District Council and the Anthem Trust. 
  
 
46. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
 
Members requested that the following item be added to the Work Programme for the 
next meeting in June 2022: 
 
ACTION: 
 

• Progress update on Grantham Museum  

• Arts review and national portfolio funding update 

• Update on Welcome Back Fund 
 
 
47. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances decides is urgent 
 
The Chairman highlighted that the Deepings Literacy Festival would be taking place 
at the end of April and tickets were still available.  
 
In conjunction with this, the Arts pop-up of Stamford was due to take place on the 23 
and 24 April.  
 
48. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 12:08.  
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



Action Sheet 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the 5 April 2022 meeting.  

 

Minute 
no. 

Agenda Item Action(s) Assigned to Response/Status Deadline 

44 Arts, Culture and 
Events Service – 
Implementation 
of Review and 

Recommendations 

For  the Assistant Director for Culture and 
Leisure provides information regarding the risks 
associated with not receiving the funding from 

Arts Council England at the next meeting in June. 

Assistant Director for 
Culture and Leisure 

Update to be provided at the 
meeting.  

14 June 
2022 

46 36. Work Programme 
2021 - 2022 

 

Members requested that the following item be 
added to the Work Programme: 
 
• Progress update on Grantham Museum 
• Arts review and national portfolio funding 
update 
• Update on Welcome Back Fund  
 

Democratic Services Completed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

14 June 
2022 

 

 

13

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
14 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2021/22 
Year-End Report. 

This year-end update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils performance against the 
Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the year of 2021/22. 
 
As part of the ongoing review cycle all KPIs will be reviewed at the end of Q2 2022/23 to account 
for any changes that need to be made to the existing measures as well as any additions or 
removals that are deemed necessary.  

 

 

Report Author 

Robert Warburton, Performance Analyst 

  Robert.Warburton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A high performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Debbie Roberts, Organisation Development Manager 27 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive  1 June 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council  6 June 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Note the contents of the 2021/22 year-end performance report. 

2. Members to consider if any concerns highlighted by the report require additional 
investigation to be added to the work programme. 

 

15

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background 

1.1 The South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020-23 was approved by Council on 1 October 

2020. It was agreed by Council that actions, key performance indicators (KPIs) and targets 

would be developed by the relevant overview and scrutiny committee, which would retain 

oversight of the performance management arrangements at a strategic level. These 

actions and indicators were presented to this committee and agreed on 17 November 

2020. 

1.2 The Mid-Year report for 2021/22 was presented to the Committee on 01 February 2022 

and outlined the performance against the Corporate Plan for the financial year to date and 

included the first annual review of all Corporate KPIs and contained recommendations for 

changes, additions, and removals.  

1.3 This report builds on these historical reports to provide an update on performance to the 

end of the 2021/22 financial year. It incorporates the changes recommended by the last 

KPI review to outline areas of the council’s performance which are successful and to 

advise where challenges may lay. From these results this committee may need to pay 

additional attention either through questions to senior officers during the session or more 

detailed investigations to be added to the committee work programme. 

1.4 A further review of actions is due to be carried out to coincide with the Quarter 2 report. 

2 Corporate Plan Actions – Year-End Update 

2.1 Appendix 1 outlines the overall performance against the 5 actions, as well as specific 

performance against the 13 sub measures contained within those. Specific commentary is 

provided for each action, but the summary is as follows:  

1. 3 of the actions are rated Green. These are actions which are on or above 

target as planned.  

2. 2 actions are rated as Amber, these are those off target by less than 10% 

or where milestone achievement is delayed but with resolution in place to 

be achieved within a reasonable timeframe.  

3. 0 actions are rated Red. These are those falling significantly below target 

or overdue with no specific resolution date planned. 

2.2 There have been no areas of significant under performance identified in this report, this is 

a positive improvement from the last report which had 1 action rated as Red. 

3 Financial Implications  

3.1 The financial considerations where appropriate are referenced throughout this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

4 Legal and Governance Implications  

4.1 Regular reporting on agreed actions and measures is to be welcomed from a governance 

point of view, as it provides a transparent mechanism for reporting on performance. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance  

5 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

16



 

 
 

5.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

6 Risk and Mitigation 

6.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

7 Community Safety Implications  

7.1 No significant implications have been identified. 

8 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

8.1 The contents of this report do not have a direct impact on the council’s carbon emissions 

or the carbon emissions of the wider district. More detailed information on carbon impact 

of individual projects or activities are outlined within the relevant project documentation or 

service plans. 

9 Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators Year-End Update 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

1 February 2022 

Final Decision date   N/A 

 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



WĂŐĞ�ϯϬ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

�ƵůƚƵƌĞ�Θ�sŝƐŝƚŽƌ��ĐŽŶŽŵǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�dĂƌŐĞƚƐ 

WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ�EŽ͗ �ĐƟŽŶ͗ ^ƚĂƚƵƐ͗ 

'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\�� 
:RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�
YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�

)UDPHZRUN� 

 

'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\��� 
:RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�

WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 

 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� ,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 
5HYLHZ�$UWV�VHUYLFHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�ZLWK�DPELWLRQ�WR�SURYLGH�LPSURYHG��

HIILFLHQW�DQG�DFFHVVLEOH�DUWV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�� 

 

19

A
ppendix 1



WĂŐĞ�ϯϭ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\�� 

6WDWXV�� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

        

$FWLRQ�� 
:RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ��

RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�

&XOWXUH�  
0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

,QFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�DPRXQW�RI�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�GLVWULFW��'HYHORSPHQW�DQG�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�VWUDWHJLF�GRFXPHQW�WKDW������
SRVLWLRQV�6.'&�DW�WKH�FHQWUH�RI�LWV�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\��7KH�GRFXPHQW�ZLOO�DQG�GUDZ-RQ��DQG�VXSSRUW��WKH�H[SHUWLVH�RI�

WKH�H[LVWLQJ�9(�VHFWRU��DQG�RWKHU�DJHQFLHV�LQYROYHG�LQ�LWV�SURPRWLRQ� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

1XPEHU�RI�QHZO\�HQJDJHG�
YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DWWUDFWLRQV�

HQJDJHG 
�� <HDU�(QG ��  

        
,QFUHDVH�LQ�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�

VSHQG 
������������ $QQXDO ������������ 

    

$GRSWLRQ�RI�7RXULVP��������
6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN�
�*URVV�9DOXH�$GGHG� 

7R�KDYH�DGRSWHG�
WKH�7RXULVP�
6WUDWHJLF��
)UDPHZRUN 

<HDU�(QG 1RW�FRPSOHWH 

    
&RPPHQWDU\���7KH�QHZO\�HQJDJHG�DWWUDFWLRQV�LV�D�FRXQW�RI�GLUHFW�IDFH�WR�IDFH�HQJDJHPHQW�DFWLYLW\�XQGHUWDNHQ�E\�WKH�QHZ�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�
DQG�7RXULVP�2IILFHU�WR�LQWURGXFH�WKHPVHOYHV�DQG�SURPRWH�WKH�*UDQWKDP�)RON�)HVWLYDO�DQG�RWKHU�:HOFRPH�%DFN�)XQG�HYHQWV� 

7KH�UHSRUWHG�ILJXUH�IRU�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�VSHQG�LV�WKH�ODWHVW�67($0�ILJXUH�DYDLODEOH�DQG�LV�IURP�WKH�FDOHQGDU�\HDU�������/DWHU�\HDUV��DQG�GXULQJ�
WKH�&RYLG�SDQGHPLF��ZLOO�EH�DYDLODEOH�ODWHU�LQ��������� 

$�VWUDWHJLF�IUDPHZRUN�ZDV�SUHSDUHG�E\�D�FRQVXOWDQW�WR�6.'&�KRZHYHU�WKLV�KDV�QRW�EHHQ�DGRSWHG�DQG�WLPHVFDOHV�KDYH�EHHQ�UHYLVHG�IRU�WKH�
SURGXFWLRQ�RI�D�QHZ�IUDPHZRUN�WKDW�ZLOO�FRPH�IRUZDUG�LQ��������� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

4��������� 

20



WĂŐĞ�ϯϮ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\��� 

6WDWXV�� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

        

$FWLRQ�� :RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�	�

&XOWXUH 
0HDVXUHG�� $QQXDO 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

9LEUDQW�DQG�ILQDQFLDOO\�YLDEOH�PDUNHWV�WKDW�FRQWULEXWH�WR�WKH�IRRWIDOO�DQG�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\�RI�WKH�WRZQ�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

0DUNHWV�EHFRPLQJ�FRVW����
QHXWUDO�WR�6.'&� 

 �����UHGXFWLRQ�
RI�PDUNHWV�GHILFLW�
IURP�EDVHOLQH� 

���������� 

<HDU�(QG ������  

        
&RPPHQWDU\���0DUNHWV�KDYH�RYHUDOO�SHUIRUPHG�EHWWHU�WKDQ�H[SHFWHG�LQ����������'XULQJ�WKH�4XDUWHU���UHSRUWLQJ�SHULRG�ZH�KDG�IRUHFDVW�D�UH�
GXFWLRQ�LQ�FRVWV�WR�EXGJHW�RI����������WKLV�HTXDWHG�WR�EHLQJ�����EHORZ�EXGJHW� 

$FWXDO�\HDU�HQG�ILJXUHV�JLYH�XV�D�������������RU���������UHGXFWLRQ�RQ�WKH�DQQXDO�EXGJHW�PRVWO\�GULYHQ�E\�DQ�RSHUDWLQJ�VXUSOXV�JHQHUDWHG�E\�
6WDPIRUG�PDUNHW� 

��$QQXDO�%XGJHW����������������� 

��$QQXDO�&RVW�7R�'HOLYHU�0DUNHWV�������������������� 

�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

4��������� 

21



WĂŐĞ�ϯϯ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

        

$FWLRQ�� 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�/HLVXUH�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

$GRSWLQJ�DQG�DFKLHYLQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�D�6SRUWV�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ &XUUHQW�����

4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�6SRUW�	�
3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�VWUDWHJ\ 

������� <HDU�(QG <HV  
        

0HDVXUH 7DUJHW�� 7DUJHW�3HULRG�� $FKLHYHG�� �������� ������� 

5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�SHRSOH������
VXUYH\��$GXOWV�� 0RQLWRU�ZLWK���

WDUJHW�WR�EH����
FRQILUPHG�LQ�
VWUDWHJ\� 

$QQXDO 
$FWLYH�-�������)DLU�
O\�$FWLYH�-������
,QDFWLYH�-������   

5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�OLYHV�VXUYH\�
�&KLOGUHQ�DQG�<RXQJ�3HRSOH�� 

$QQXDO 
$FWLYH�-�������)DLU�
O\�$FWLYH�-������
,QDFWLYH�-������  

&RPPHQWDU\����$GRSWHG�E\�&DELQHW�LQ�'HFHPEHU�������7R�PRQLWRU�WKH�RQJRLQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�WKDW�VWUDWHJ\��WKH�IROORZLQJ�.H\�3HUIRUPDQFH�,QGLFDWRUV�IRU�
��������DUH�VXJJHVWHG� 

�� (PEHG�WKH�VSRUW�DQG�SK\VLFDO�DFWLYLW\��FRQWLQXLQJ�WR�GHYHORS�WKH���NH\�WKHPHV�RI�WKH�DFWLRQ�SODQ�E\�FROODERUDWLYHO\�ZRUNLQJ�DFURVV�WKH�&RXQFLO��ZLWK�
SDUWQHU�RUJDQLVDWLRQV�DQG�FRPPXQLWLHV�'HYHORSPHQW�RI�DQ�RXWUHDFK�DFWLYLWLHV�SURJUDPPH 

�� 'HYHORS�D�SURJUDPPH�RI�RXWUHDFK�DFWLYLWLHV�ZLWK�WKH�&RXQFLO¶V�OHLVXUH�SURYLGHU�DQG�RWKHU�SDUWQHUV�WR�HQFRXUDJH�SK\VLFDO�DFWLYLW\�LQ�ORFDO�FRPPXQLWLHV 

�� :RUN�ZLWK�ORFDO�SDUWQHUV�WR�DFFHVV�IXQGLQJ�DYDLODEOH�IRU�SURMHFWV�DURXQG�LQFUHDVLQJ�OHYHOV�RI�VSRUW�DQG�SK\VLFDO�DFWLYLW\� 

7KH�UHVXOWV�RI�WKH�DFWLYH�OLYHV�VXUYH\�DUH�VXJJHVWHG�WR�EH�GLVFRQWLQXHG�DV�D�SHUIRUPDQFH�LQGLFDWRU�LQ�WKLV�UHSRUW�DV�WKH\�DUH�DQ�XQUHOLDEOH�PHDVXUHPHQW�RI�
WKH�FRXQFLOV�DFWLYLW\��7KH\�ZLOO�FRQWLQXH�WR�EH�UHSRUWHG�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�/HLVXUH6.�PRQLWRULQJ�UHSRUWV�� 

 

22



WĂŐĞ�ϯϰ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

6WDWXV�� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

        

$FWLRQ�� ,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�	�

&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

)LW�IRU�SXUSRVH�IDFLOLWLHV�DW�6WDPIRUG�$UWV�&HQWUH��*UDQWKDP�*XLOGKDOO�DQG�%RXUQH�([FKDQJH�DV�ZHOO�DV�RWKHU�
&RXQFLO-VXSSRUWHG�DUWV�DQG�FXOWXUDO�DVVHWV�DFURVV�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

9DOXH�RI�FDSLWDO�ZRUNV������
FDUULHG�RXW� 

%DVHOLQH����� <HDU�(QG  - 
        

0DLQWDLQLQJ�SURSHUWLHV�WR���
UHTXLUHG�VWDQGDUGV� 

����RI��������
DFWLRQ�SODQ����������
FRPSOHWHG� 

<HDU�(QG - 

    
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

7KH�FDSLWDO�ZRUNV�SURJUDPPH��2QJRLQJ�UHSDLUV�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�DUH�DOO�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�EXGJHW�IRU����������7KLV�ZLOO�EH�PRQLWRUHG�DV�WKH�\HDU���
SURJUHVVHV� 

 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

4��������� 23



WĂŐĞ�ϯϱ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�ϰ�-�zĞĂƌ��ŶĚ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

6WDWXV�� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

        

$FWLRQ�� 5HYLHZ�$UWV�VHUYLFHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�ZLWK�DPELWLRQ�WR�SURYLGH�LPSURYHG��HIILFLHQW�DQG�DFFHVVLEOH�DUWV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG��������������������������������

'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�	�&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

$�VXVWDLQDEO\�SURYLVLRQHG�DUWV�VHUYLFH�IRU�UHVLGHQWV�DQG�YLVLWRUV�WR�WKH�GLVWULFW�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

6WDII�UHYLHZ�DQG�UHVWUXFWXUH ������� <HDU�(QG     
5HYLHZ��WKH�SURJUDPPLQJ�
DQG�RSHQLQJ�KRXUV�RI�WKH�
WKUHH�FHQWUHV�LQ�*UDQWKDP��

%RXUQH�DQG�6WDPIRUG 

������� <HDU�(QG 

    
,GHQWLI\�SRWHQWLDO�IXWXUH������

GHOLYHU\�PRGHOV 
������� <HDU�(QG 

    
'HYHORS�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�����

6WUDWHJ\�ZLWK�FOHDU�DFWLRQ�
SODQ 

������� <HDU�(QG 
    

&RPPHQWDU\����6WDII�UHVWUXFWXUH�QRZ�FRPSOHWH�DQG�GHOLYHUHG�����N�VDYLQJV��1HZ�VWUXFWXUH�FRPSOHWHO\�OLYH�IURP��VW�$SULO������ 

:RUN�LV�RQJRLQJ�UHJDUGLQJ�WKH�SURJUDPPH�DQG�RSHQLQJ�KRXUV�DQG�ZLOO�EH�NHSW�XQGHU�UHYLHZ� 

,GHQWLI\LQJ�SRWHQWLDO�IXWXUH�GHOLYHU\�PRGHOV�LV�FRQWDLQHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VHUYLFH�SODQ��,W�LV�WRR�HDUO\�WR�FRQVLGHU�RWKHU�RSWLRQV�IRU�WKH�ZKROH�VHUYLFH�EXW�
RSWLRQV�DURXQG�IHVWLYDOV�DQG�HYHQWV�ZLOO�EH�FRQVLGHUHG�ZLWKLQ���������DQG�UHSRUWHG�WR�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�26&� 

7KH�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�6WUDWHJ\�LV�WR�EH�FRPSOHWHG�GXULQJ���������ZLWK�LQSXW�IURP�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�26&� 

 

5HSRUW�WR�&�	�
9(�26&��WK�
$SULO�ZLWK�����
XSGDWH� 

24



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

14 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Cabinet Member for Leisure 

         
  

 

LeisureSK Ltd Performance Report 

To provide an update to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
performance of LeisureSK Ltd against the leisure management contract objectives. 
 

 

Report Author 

Susie McCahon, Leisure Officer 

 
 07786 171414 

  s.mccahon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director – Culture and 
Leisure 

24 May 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 31 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Leisure 31 May 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

That Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Provide feedback on any items for inclusion in future reports.  

 

25

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The delivery of the council’s priorities set out in the Corporate Plan (2020-2023) remains a 

key focus for the authority.  Supporting communities to be healthy is particularly important, 

which is why South Kesteven District Council is investing in the health of our district by 

improving leisure provision.  

1.2 LeisureSK Ltd have been managing the Council’s leisure centres since January 2021, 

following the expiry of the Council’s leisure management contract with Leisure in the 

Community (1Life).  

1.3 In July 2021 Deepings Leisure Centre was temporarily closed on the grounds of health and 

safety.  At Full Council in December 2021, the Council committed to an investment of 

£10.7m to enable a full refurbishment and remodelling of the leisure centre.  A Project 

Manager has since been appointed and procurement to secure a design team and 

construction company for the refurbishment project has commenced. 

1.4 Meanwhile, many former users have been accommodated at the Council’s other leisure 

centres, particularly at Bourne and Stamford.   

1.5 Whilst the existing Deepings Leisure Centre remains closed, Linchfield Road Playing Fields 

remains in use by Deeping United Football Club, Deeping Rugby Club and the Anthem 

School Trust (Deepings School). 

1.6 The Council’s Leisure Team are responsible for regular contract monitoring and assessing 

the performance of LeisureSK Ltd against the contract outcomes to ensure they are: 

delivering the Council’s objectives, providing a high-quality service which meets the desired 

levels of cleanliness and presentation, and offering a positive customer experience. 

1.7 At a meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 9 

March 2021, Members agreed to receive a report every six months detailing progress 

against the contract’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and to receive a copy of the 

balanced scorecard used by the Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd to assess the 

performance of the company.  

1.8 Since July 2021, all restrictions relating to COVID-19 have been lifted and the leisure centres 

have focused on recruiting new members, as well as those who had dormant memberships 

during the pandemic. This has been challenging as some customers have remained hesitant 

about revisiting the facilities, and some have taken up other methods of exercising. This 

aligns with the national picture of leisure centre usage and the experience of other leisure 

providers.   

1.9 A further challenge has been the ability to recruit and retain staff, many of whom had been 

furloughed for some time, and have since secured alternative employment.  A recruitment 

campaign supported by The HR Branch was undertaken to ensure that staffing levels were 

maintained to meet customer demand, and to support a positive customer experience.     

1.10 The former Contract Manager left LeisureSK Ltd in October 2021.  Interim support for the 

General Managers and site teams was provided by David Monkhouse, an experienced 

leisure professional and Non-Executive LeisureSK Board member. 

1.11 Until March 2022 the car park at the Grantham Meres Leisure Centre formed a vital part of 

the district’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, being frequently used as a testing facility.   

26



 

 
 

1.12 The Table Tennis Centre at Grantham Meres Leisure Centre continues to be used by the 

National Health Service (NHS) as a COVID-19 regional vaccination centre. As a result, 

some activities have been relocated to other parts of the centre.   

1.13 The Council’s Meres Live events resumed in Autumn 2021 and were well attended.  A total 

of 2,191 people attended the Autumn/Winter 2021 season of entertainment, with top 

comedians Jason Manford, Jimmy Carr and Milton Jones all proving popular.  Further 

discussions are underway with the Council’s Arts team on the future of these events, which 

will form part of a future report to this committee. 

1.14 Other sporting and community events returned to Grantham Meres during 2022, including 

the David Ross Educational Cup Summer Games which took place in September 2021.  

Forthcoming events at the Meres include local sports charity Inspire + Mini Commonwealth 

Games from 14 to 16 June and Lincolnshire Taekwondo championships in June.   

1.15 LeisureSK Ltd continue to develop their community and outreach activities, having recently 

supported the Council’s Get SK Moving events at Deepings, Bourne, Stamford and 

Grantham from 2 to 5 March 2022 as part of the Welcome Back Fund project.  Plans are 

currently underway for the leisure centres to support National Fitness Day on 21 September 

2021, with the aim of promoting the sites and attracting new members. 

1.16 The balanced scorecard covering Grantham, Stamford and Bourne leisure centres for the 

period October 2021 to March 2022 is attached to this report at Appendix One. 

1.17 A customer satisfaction survey was conducted during February and March 2022, and total 

of 539 responses were received.  A summary of results is displayed in the table below: 

1.18 Customer Satisfaction Survey Results 

 

Facility Very 
satisfied 

Satisfied Neither 
satisfied or 
dissatisfied 

Unsatisfied Very 
unsatisfied 

Bourne 
Leisure 
Centre 

32.45% 55.85% 6.38% 4.26% 1.06% 

Grantham 
Meres 
Leisure 
Centre 

31.46% 50.23% 10.80% 6.57% 0.94% 

Stamford 
Leisure 
Pool 

21.74% 47.10% 16.67% 10.87% 3.62% 

 

1.19 The Council’s leisure team are responsible for conducting formal monitoring visits which 

focus on cleanliness standards, day to day maintenance items, and the overall customer 

experience. These visits provide an opportunity for LeisureSK Ltd to raise items that are the 

Council’s responsibility within the contract. The table below outlines the findings of the 

leisure monitoring visits and the number of items raised for rectification for each subject 

area. 

 

27



 

 
 

 

1.20 Leisure Monitoring Visits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.21 Generally, the monitoring visits have found the facilities to be well presented for customers, 

and the information on display about the facilities and staff has been up to date.  The 

cleanliness items identified primarily relate to everyday cleaning issues associated with 

customer throughput.  There have been some issues with vandalism at the Stadium which 

the Council are seeking to address together with the site team. 

1.22 There is currently a backlog of day-to-day maintenance items due to the post of 

Maintenance Assistant for LeisureSK Ltd currently being vacant.  However, the site teams 

have been working to resolve this with contractors, and the recruitment process is on-going.  

1.23 The site teams have worked proactively with the Council’s leisure officers to ensure that 

timescales for any remedial action following site inspections are met.   

1.24 In addition to the monitoring visits, formal monthly contract monitoring meetings take place 

between representatives of the Council and the management team of LeisureSK Ltd.  In 

addition, there are meetings with the Council’s property team to discuss maintenance 

issues. 

1.25 Full building condition surveys were carried out at Grantham, Stamford and Bourne Leisure 

Centres in March 2022.   Once all the reports have been received, these will be reviewed in 

conjunction with the Head of Property and Assets so that necessary works can be prioritised 

and planned accordingly. 

1.26 In December 2021, major works were carried out at Grantham Meres Leisure Centre to 

repair a damaged passenger lift and replace the pool filter beds. Works are currently in hand 

to repair the air conditioning system at Bourne Leisure Centre, and to replace a boiler at 

Stamford Leisure Centre and undertake repairs to the hot water system and showers. 

Facility  Total 
Cleanliness 

Items 

Total 
Maintenance 
and Repair 

Items 

Customer 
Experience 

Items 

Comments for 
SKDC 

Oct – 
Dec 
2021 

Jan – 
Mar 
2022 

Oct – 
Dec 
2021 

Jan – 
Mar 
2022 

Oct – 
Dec 
2021 

Jan – 
Mar 
2022 

Oct – 
Dec 
2021 

Jan – 
March 
2022 

Bourne Leisure 
Centre 14 25 10 21 0 0 14 18 

Grantham 
Meres Leisure 
Centre 

32 26 43 22 0 0 

 

11 11 

South 
Kesteven Sport 
Stadium 

32 43 59 48 0 

 

0 

 

14 11 

Stamford 
Leisure Pool 19 22 17 23 0 0 16 13 

28



 

 
 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Business Plan for LeisureSK Ltd for 2022/23 was considered by Companies Committee 

on 26 April 2022. Companies Committee are responsible for assessing the financial 

performance of LeisureSK Ltd against the targets contained in the Business Plan. 

2.2 At the meeting of Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 9 

March 2021, Members agreed to receive six monthly update reports on the performance of 

LeisureSK Ltd to include the balanced scorecard which is used to provide a holistic strategic 

overview of the performance of LeisureSK Ltd.  

2.3 A Performance Report was presented to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 8 September 2021.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report provides information on the contract performance and monitoring arrangements 

with LeisureSK Ltd and offers an opportunity for Members to raise any concerns around the 

facilities and the level of service being offered. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 That Culture and Visitor Economy and Overview and Scrutiny Committee provide on any 

additional information required for future reports. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation 

5.1 The Council has a duty to ensure that the leisure contract provides value for money and 

delivers on the Council’s corporate objectives. The information detailed within the report 

provides Members with an opportunity to assess the performance of LeisureSK Ltd and 

raise any items of concern.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Any concerns raised by Members of the Committee will be investigated by the Council’s 

leisure team as part of the ongoing contract monitoring arrangements. 

6.2 The next performance report will be presented to the Committee in six months’ time. 

6.3 Any additional information requested by the Committee will be considered for inclusion in 

future reports. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no financial implications from the Council’s perspective in relation to this report.  

The management fee payable to LeisureSK Ltd is approved by Council as part of the annual 

budget setting.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

29



 

 
 

9.1 LeisureSK Ltd has an Equality and Diversity Policy and a Safeguarding Policy which have 

been adopted by the Board of Directors. 

9.2 As Director for LeisureSK Ltd, Karen Bradford, the Chief Executive of the Council, has been 

appointed as the Director with specific responsibility for Safeguarding.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The Board of Directors have developed a Risk Register for LeisureSK Ltd which includes 

existing and emerging risk to the business, together with any mitigating actions. The 

Directors maintain the Risk Register and update when required, including implementing any 

actions required to protect LeisureSK Ltd. The Risk Register is part of the Business Plan 

and was last reviewed by Companies Committee on 26 April 2022. 

10.2 The Assistant Director for Culture and Leisure liaises with the Board of Directors to ensure 

that any potential risks to the Council as the owner of the company are identified and 

appropriately managed.  

10.3 A Skills Audit is currently being carried out by the Chartered Institute for the Management 

of Sport and Physical Activity (CIMSPA) to assess the individual skills of Board members in 

relation to their specific responsibilities which have been allocated. 

10.4 LeisureSK Ltd procures support from companies with specific industry expertise to provide 

services, including health and safety and HR support.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Targeted sport and physical activity can be used to improve community cohesion and can 

have a positive impact on reducing incidents on anti-social behaviour in our communities. 

11.2 Leisure Officers meet with the Council’s team responsible for community safety and the 

LeisureSK team to identify ways to reduce anti-social behaviour at the leisure centres. 

11.3 A varied programme of activities in the Council’s leisure facilities and outreach activities in 

the community provides opportunities for people to be active and to socially integrate.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

 Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The leisure centres form part of the Council’s carbon footprint as Council owned assets that 

are leased to the leisure provider. 

12.2 Due to facility closures during periods of lockdown during 2020/21 there was an overall 50% 

reduction in operational carbon emissions across the leisure centres.  However, they still 

accounted for approximately 26% of the 2020/21 overall carbon emissions.  Data is currently 

being collated for 2021/22. 

12.3 The Directors and management of LeisureSK Ltd remain committed to the efficient 

management of carbon emissions and the leisure centres will be included as part of a wider 

initiative to explore reduction on carbon emissions and cost savings for the Council’s assets.   

12.4 As part of the Council’s leisure improvement plans the introduction of carbon efficient 

measures will be considered as part of the refurbishment and remodelling of Deepings 

Leisure Centre and any planned improvements to the other leisure centres.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None arising from this report. 

30



 

 
 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One – Performance Information for the Leisure Centres 

 

 

 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

Appendix One – LeisureSK Ltd Performance Monitoring Report  

Balanced Scorecard Report 

Objective Measure – Performance 
Indicator 

Bourne Leisure Centre 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

March 
2022 

Provide high-quality, accessible leisure 
provision for residents and visitors to 
South Kesteven 

Overall attendance 14,576 9,338 7,436 13,432 10,700 11,733 

Total membership numbers: 

• Swim school 

• Fitness 

 
628 
852 

 
656 
817 

 
677 
816 

 
739 
873 

 
766 
899 

 
812 
951 

Attendance: 

• Casual swimming 

• Gym sessions 

 
4,136 
1,191 

 
3,069 
1,724 

 
2,511 
1,223 

 
3,936 
2,316 

 
4,363 
2,025 

 
4,428 
2,495 

Facebook activity 

• Number of posts 

• Total followers 

• Engagement 

 
31 

2,612 
933 

 
36 

2,600 
8,919 

 
39 

2,703 
3,094 

 
17 

2,821 
6,401 

 
16 

2,708 
11,316 

 
10 

2,738 
9,400 

Google rating 3 

Contract monitoring visits by 
the Council’s leisure team  

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

Facility closures 0 1 0 0 0       1 

Number of accidents/incidents 7 10 3 7 10 13 

Number of high/medium risk 
actions 

7 1 1 1 1 1 

Establish a culture of growth and 
development  

Courses completed by team 
members 

3 0 0 0 1 0 

Create an environment where employees 
feel valued, empowered, engaged, and 
satisfied 

• New starters 
 

• Vacancies 

3 

1 

4 
 
2 

1 
 
3 

1 
 
2 

1 
 
2 

1 
 
2 

33

A
ppendix 1



Page 2 of 5 
 

Customer Feedback Summary 

 Oct – Dec 2021 Jan – March 2022 

Bourne 
Leisure 
Centre 

Positive feedback about the Christmas fete 
Negative comments about upstairs shower being out of 
action 
 
Some negative comments about Christmas opening 
hours 
 
Complaints about music on poolside and lack of 
external lighting, now resolved. 

Positive comments about return of pilates and aerobics 
and complimentary about instructor and the quality of 
the product 
 
Positive feedback about the return of the 6am lane swim 
 
Negative comments about lack of space to move up 
from stage 3 to 4 in swimschool, new classes have since 
been launched 
 
Negative comments about staff setting up the sports hall 
during group exercise class, LSK addressing 

 

Objective Measure – Performance 
Indicator 

Grantham Meres Leisure Centre 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

March 
2022 

Provide high-quality, accessible leisure 
provision for residents and visitors to 
South Kesteven 

Overall attendance 26,343 30,770 23,323 34,893 35,707 41,166 

Total membership numbers: 

• Swim school 

• Fitness 

 
1,146 
1,288 

 
1,197 
1,205 

 
1,211 
1,224 

 
1,231 
1,297 

 
1,273 
1,325 

 
1,320 
1,314 

Attendance: 

• Casual swimming 

• Gym sessions 

 
3,824 
2,702 

 
3,208 
3,136 

 
2,753 
2,225 

 
4,299 
3,648 

 
5,671 
3,568 

 
4,355 
3,842 

 

Facebook activity 

• Number of posts 

• Total followers 

• Engagement 

 
32 

5,510 
7,028 

 
32 

5,727 
6,363 

 
40 

5,526 
6,662 

 
21 

5,517 
3,852 

 
28 

5,795 
9,650 

 
20 

5,813 
11,751 

Google rating 4.1 

34



Page 3 of 5 
 

Contract monitoring visits by 
the Council’s leisure team  

2 1 3 2 2 1 

Facility closures 0 0 1 1 0     0 

Number of accidents/incidents 5 7 4 10 18 6 

Number of high/medium risk 
actions 

14 14 11 11 11 5 

Establish a culture of growth and 
development  

Courses completed by team 
members 

6 3 0 0 1 1 

Create an environment where employees 
feel valued, empowered, engaged, and 
satisfied 

• New starters 
 

• Vacancies 

2 

5 

7 
 
3 

2 
 
3 

4 
 
4 

3 
 
4 

3 
 
2 

 

 Oct – Dec 2021 Jan – March 2022 

Grantham 
Meres 
Leisure 
Centre 

NHS grateful to staff for supporting the additional 
opening hours of the vaccination centre over Christmas 
at short notice. 

Some negative comments that lift was still out of order, 
although they were happy to that repairs were hand. 

Some complaints about dry side showers, since 
resolved 

 

 

Positive comments in relation to gym redecoration works 
over Christmas. 

Positive feedback to staff who dealt with a cardiac incident 
on poolside in January. 

Negative comments over pool layout for lane swimming in 
early sessions and perceived pool water quality also.  

 

 

 

 

35



Page 4 of 5 
 

Objective Measure – Performance 
Indicator 

Stamford Leisure Centre 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Feb 
2022 

March 
2022 

Provide high-quality, accessible leisure 
provision for residents and visitors to 
South Kesteven 

Overall attendance 5,989 5,876 3,768 6,396 4,987 5,109 

Total membership numbers: 

• Swim school 

• Fitness 

 
619 
453 

 
650 
459 

 
762 
460 

 
720 
486 

 
736 
470 

 
750 
483 

Attendance: 

• Casual swimming 

• Gym sessions 

 
2,767 
404 

 
2,608 
412 

 
1,452 
289 

 
2,987 
571 

 
3,137 
661 

 
2,987 
232 

Facebook activity 

• Number of posts 

• Total followers 

• Engagement 

 
31 

2,217 
998 

 
33 

2,215 
345 

 
34 

2,219 
145 

 
31 

2,224 
240 

 
17 

2,230 
243 

 
14 

2,232 
197 

Google rating 3.5 

Contract monitoring visits by 
the Council’s leisure team  

1 2 1 1 1 1 

Facility closures 0 0 0 0 0      0 

Number of accidents/incidents 2 3 2 1 2 2 

Number of high/medium risk 
actions 

1 0 0 0 0 0 

Establish a culture of growth and 
development  

Courses completed by team 
members 

3 0 0 0 0 0 

Create an environment where employees 
feel valued, empowered, engaged, and 
satisfied 

• New starters 
 

• Vacancies 

2 

4 

0 
 
4 

0 
 
4 

3 
 
2 

0 
 
3 

1 
 
3 

 

 

36



Page 5 of 5 
 

 Oct – Dec 2021 Jan – March 2022 

Stamford 
Leisure 
Centre 

Positive feedback about aquafit classes on Monday 
 
Negative feedback about lights being out in the 
changing rooms, now resolved 

Positive feedback about swim school Christmas party. 
 
Positive feedback about cleanliness and Covid 19 measures 
across the centre 
 
Negative comments about on-going issues with the showers 
and water pressure/temperature, now resolved 

 

 

 

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

14 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Cabinet Member for Leisure 

         
  

 

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 

To provide an update to Culture and Visitor Economy and Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
progress and delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy. 
 

Report Author 

Susie McCahon, Leisure Officer 

 
07786 171414 

 s.mccahon@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director – Culture and 
Leisure 

27 May 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 31 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Leisure 31 May 2022 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

That in noting the progress and delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for the 
district, that Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  

1. Consider the results of latest Active Lives data available for South Kesteven. 

2. Provide feedback on the activities undertaken and recommendations for future 
delivery. 

3. Review the Slow Ways national network of walking routes and consider if and how 
the Council could support this initiative. 

39

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2023) identifies Healthy and Strong Communities as 

a key priority. To underpin this priority, the Council produced a Sport and Physical Activity 

Strategy for the district, outlining key target areas and the desire to work with partners to 

provide opportunities for residents and visitors to live healthy, active lifestyles. 

1.2 During the course of 2021 the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy was developed with 

valuable input from the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

was adopted by Cabinet in December 2021.  

1.3 Since the adoption of the Strategy, the latest Active Lives Survey data has been published 

and presents data on both adults and young people for the period mid-November 2020 to 

mid-November 2021. Available online at: https://activelives.sportengland.org/ 

1.4 Data for adults (16 years+) shows that during this period, 54.7% of adults in South Kesteven 

were considered active, completing at least 150 minutes of activity a week and 15.0% were 

considered fairly active, completing 30-149 minutes of activity per week. However, 30.2% 

adults were considered inactive, completing less than 30 minutes activity a week. The 

results demonstrate a small increase in activity levels from the data available from May 2020 

– May 2021 (active 54.5%; fairly active 13.5%; inactive 32.1%).  

1.5 The data provided for children and young people in South Kesteven looks at activity levels 

by academic year. For the most recent academic year (2020- 2021), 45.5% of children and 

young people in South Kesteven were considered to be active, meeting the criteria of 60+ 

minutes of activity a day, and 20.2% were considered to be fairly active meeting an average 

of 30-59 minutes activity a day. 34.3% of children and young people were considered less 

active, reporting an average of less than 30 minutes activity per day. This represents a 

decrease in activity from the previous year (2019-2020) which reported 55.4% were 

considered active, 18.7% fairly active and 25.9% inactive. 

1.6 This data is reflective of the national picture which demonstrates that whilst activity levels 

dropped because of the restrictions designed to stop the spread of Coronavirus, they then 

stabilised and are now recovering. Whilst the signs of recovery are encouraging, supporting 

residents to be physically active will be even more important as we continue to emerge from 

the pandemic. The delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy will be a key part in 

tackling inequalities and removing barriers to sport and physical activity. 

1.7 In developing the Strategy, it was important to recognise that the Council alone cannot 

deliver its corporate ambition to build healthy and strong communities. To maximise the 

opportunities for our residents to increase their physical activity levels and adopt a healthy 

lifestyle, it was important that the Strategy reflected the collective ambitions and views of 

our partner organisations, key stakeholders and communities. This report provides an 

overview of work undertaken and details the progress of the action plan to date. 

1.8 Since the adoption of the Strategy, Officers from the Leisure Team have met regularly with 

Active Lincolnshire, the county’s Active Sports Partnership, to consider how the Strategy 

aligns with the county-wide agenda and Sport England’s ‘Uniting the Movement’ campaign 

(available online via: https://www.sportengland.org/why-were-here/uniting-the-movement).  

1.9 Active Lincolnshire are in the process of developing a revised Let’s Move Lincolnshire 

Strategy and Officers from the Leisure Team have contributed to this work, and promoted a 

survey to local residents, clubs, groups and organisations to seek their views and ensure 

the county-wide Strategy reflects the needs of local areas. 

40

https://activelives.sportengland.org/
https://www.sportengland.org/why-were-here/uniting-the-movement


 

 
 

1.10 Alongside this, an Activity Finder for Lincolnshire has been developed by Active 

Lincolnshire, this is an online tool to enable individuals to find activities in their local areas. 

The Council, along with other partners, has fed information into Activity Finder and continues 

to promote the tool.  There is a future aspiration to include activities in village halls, 

community centres and open spaces, as well as in Council-owned leisure facilities.  The 

Club and Activity Finder is available online at: https://www.activelincolnshire.com/get-

involved/lets-move-lincolnshire/club-and-activity-finder 

1.11 The Council’s Leisure Team have worked closely with the current leisure provider, 

LeisureSK Ltd to consider how the Strategy aligns with the work they do and to identify any 

further opportunities, both within the Council’s leisure facilities, and in the local community. 

LeisureSK Ltd have embarked on a programme of outreach activities to provide information 

on healthy, active lifestyles outside of the leisure centre environment.  

1.12 This programme of activities has included supporting the Council’s Get SK Moving events 

at Deepings, Bourne, Stamford and Grantham which took place in March 2022 as part of 

the Welcome Back Fund project. Other community events include attending a Dementia 

Awareness Event held at Stamford Arts Centre. Plans are currently underway for the leisure 

centres to support National Fitness Day on 21 September 2022 with the aim of showcasing 

the facilities, promoting healthy lifestyles, and attracting new users to the facilities.  

1.13 The Council’s Leisure Team has continued to build on relationships with key local partners, 

including local sports charity Inspire+, to consider how organisations can work together with 

the mutual objective of getting young people more active, more often in South Kesteven. As 

a result of this work a cohort of young leaders supported the delivery of activities in 

Grantham Market Place as part of the Get SK Moving Events in March.  

1.14 The partnership working with Inspire+ will also be instrumental in the delivery of the Queen’s 

Baton Relay in Grantham, where local schools are being invited to line the route and attend 

a mass participation event in Wyndham Park afterwards. 

1.15 Initial discussions have taken place with other Council teams to establish how collectively 

the Council can make improvements to the health and wellbeing of residents across different 

service areas. This has included discussions with Officers in the Council’s Parks, Housing, 

Property, Planning, Organisational Development and Change teams. These conversations 

have highlighted some key areas, and potential projects, which will enable a collaborative 

corporate approach to promoting healthy, active lifestyles for residents and in the 

community.  

1.16 An example of this is promoting discussion between the Council’s Parks Team and 

LeisureSK Ltd to promote use of the outdoor gym equipment in Wyndham Park. Alongside 

this, LeisureSK Ltd are now attending events in the park and providing opportunities for the 

community to be active, whilst also providing healthy lifestyle advice.   

1.17 Council Officers have attended training and workshops with Sport England and the Chief 

Cultural and Leisure Officers Association.  This has been key in enabling the sharing of 

learning and experiences with other districts, active partnerships, and key stakeholders, and 

has ensured that work remains aligned with the regional and national picture.  

1.18 Alongside the work on the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, the Council has signed up 

to the Mental Health Challenge for local authorities, acknowledging the valuable role 

Councils play in improving community mental wellbeing.  This work stretches across all the 

Council’s areas of responsibility.  In addition, the Council has supported work by local groups 

41

https://www.activelincolnshire.com/get-involved/lets-move-lincolnshire/club-and-activity-finder
https://www.activelincolnshire.com/get-involved/lets-move-lincolnshire/club-and-activity-finder


 

 
 

and organisations to produce Wellbeing maps for the market towns within South Kesteven, 

this was inspired by a map produced by Mindspace and Art Pop-Up for Stamford (available 

online via: https://mindspacestamford.com/app/uploads/2021/05/Wellbeing-map-FINAL-v3-

20-4-21-high-quality-digital-only-1.pdf). Similar projects have received funding to produce 

maps of Bourne and Grantham, with the aim to supporting the Deepings in a project as the 

work continues to establish an organisation focused on mental health and wellbeing for the 

area. 

1.19 Initial conversations have taken place with those that play a role in health within the 

community, this has included the National Health Service (NHS) Neighbourhoods’ Team, 

GP surgeries and social prescribers. Further developing closer working links with health 

colleagues will be necessary to develop a whole systems approach and develop integrated 

care systems.  

1.20 The Council’s Leisure Team have continued to advocate for improvements to the cycle and 

walking pathways across the district as part of a project being led by Lincolnshire County 

Council.  It is hoped that the successful delivery of this project will provide more opportunities 

for residents to be active and encourage active commuting.  

1.21 This report asks the Committee to consider support of the Slow Ways initiative, which looks 

to create a comprehensive network of walking routes that connect towns and villages.   

1.22 Each Slow Way route connects two neighbouring settlements and routes can be combined 

for longer journeys. As far as possible routes are direct, off-road, safe, accessible, easily 

navigable, and pass-through settlements with services and public transport hubs. The Slow 

Ways network, through its unique approach to plotting, mapping and recording routes, aims 

to make it easier for people to see, plan, enjoy and share walks between places. 

1.23 There are many benefits to establishing pathway links including health benefits, creating 

opportunities for people to connect with others and reducing pollution and emissions. It will 

also save people money and spread economic activity by inspiring visits to places via 

walking links. The project provides an opportunity for the community to come together to 

work on the project and explore their local community, connecting with nature.  

1.24 There are a number of ways the Council can support this initiative including: 

- Passing a formal motion to support Slow Ways 

- Promoting Slow Ways for local residents to walk, review and use routes 

- Including Slow Ways within their planning, policies and initiatives  

- Consider where new paths might strengthen the Slow Ways network 

- Encourage representatives to sign-up personally to walk and review a Slow Way  

1.25 There are routes already mapped in South Kesteven, with connections from Bourne, the 

Deepings, Grantham and Stamford to neighbouring towns and villages (can be found online 

via: https://beta.slowways.org/) . The routes in Bourne, the Deepings and Stamford connect 

each of the towns, however, they do not currently link with Grantham. There is potential for 

a project here to explore linking Grantham with the other market towns. 

1.26 The information provided in Appendix One, Delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity 

Action Plan, outlines further activity and highlights planned future actions. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

42

https://mindspacestamford.com/app/uploads/2021/05/Wellbeing-map-FINAL-v3-20-4-21-high-quality-digital-only-1.pdf
https://mindspacestamford.com/app/uploads/2021/05/Wellbeing-map-FINAL-v3-20-4-21-high-quality-digital-only-1.pdf
https://beta.slowways.org/


 

 
 

2.1 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy was developed using the key themes and 

methodology approved by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in June 2021. 

2.2 In developing the Strategy, a series of consultations took place with key organisations and 

stakeholders. The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy has taken account of the feedback 

received and is a collective representation of the consultation responses. 

2.3 Council Officers from the Leisure Team continue to consult and consider feedback on the 

activities undertaken, including customer feedback from those that use the Council’s leisure 

facilities.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report provides an update on the delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy provides a basis and framework for the Council to 

deliver on its corporate ambition to increase the health and wellbeing outcomes within our 

local communities. This update provides an opportunity to reflect on the delivery of the action 

plan to date, and to discuss opportunities for the future.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendations 

5.1 The Strategy forms an overarching vision for the district, and a platform for the Council to 

work collectively with the other providers in the district to deliver increased levels of physical 

activity and health and wellbeing. This update provides further opportunity for Members of 

the Committee to note delivery to date and input into future actions.  

5.2 The results of the Active Lives survey provide a snapshot of physical activity levels within 

the district and a year-on-year comparison. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Council’s Leisure Team will continue to work on the delivery of the Sport and Physical 

Activity Strategy, working with the Council’s leisure provider LeisureSK Ltd and a range of 

partners.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no financial implications for the Council and the work completed to date has been 

completed with identified funds, such as the Welcome Back Fund. If any initiatives are 

identified which require budget or investment, then an appropriate business case will be 

developed which identifies the cost and the associated benefit to the community. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications rising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

43



 

 
 

9.1 The Strategy was developed in line with the Council’s Equality and Diversity Annual Position 

Statement and Safeguarding Policy. Equality and Safeguarding is considered in all aspects 

of delivery.  

9.2 LeisureSK Ltd, as the leisure provider for the Council, has an Equality and Diversity Policy 

and Safeguarding Policy that is specific to leisure industry standards. 

9.3 The Strategy identifies and seeks to reduce inequalities and remove any barriers to 

undertaking physical activity. Target groups have been identified in the Strategy including 

residents from priority wards, young people, older adults, and people with disabilities and 

long-term health conditions, including mental health. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There are no risks arising from this report. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Targeted sport and physical activity can be used to improve community cohesion and have 

a positive impact on reducing anti-social behaviour in our communities. 

11.2 Sport and physical activity provide organised ways for young people to socialise with others 

in a safe space. The Strategy includes the support of initiatives which will engage young 

people and provide opportunities for them to participate in sport and physical activity. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Health is closely linked to the environment. Individual action can make a difference and 

when taken together, adds up to collective action to make an even bigger difference. The 

Strategy encourages healthy, active lifestyles for residents, including an emphasis on 

reducing reliance on cars by using ‘active transport’ (such as walking and cycling) or public 

transport to contribute towards reducing the carbon footprint of the district.  

12.2 The provision of outreach activities in local areas reduces the need to travel to participate.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None arising from this report. 

14 Background papers 

14.1 Draft Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, report of Cabinet, published 7 December 2021: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31891/Report%20-

%20Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One – Delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Action Plan 

 

 

44

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31891/Report%20-%20Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31891/Report%20-%20Sport%20and%20Physical%20Activity%20Strategy.pdf


Appendix One – Delivery of the Sport and Physical Activity Action Plan 

Activity 
Area 

Theme Action to Date Next Steps 

Active 
Society 

Ensure 
participation  
is affordable and  
accessible to the 
whole  
community 

Working with LeisureSK Ltd and local sports 
charity Inspire+ to provide outreach activities in 
the community at local markets in all four market 
towns. ‘Get SK Moving’ was a programme of 
events 2nd – 5th March providing a wide range of 
activities including health checks by One You 
Lincolnshire, exercise classes and activities for all 
the family.  

Working with LeisureSK Ltd to develop a calendar 
of community events to attend and encourage 
discussion around healthy, active lifestyles such 
as Wyndham Park May Day event and Stamford 
Festival Weekend in July 2022. 

LeisureSK Ltd is working with Level Water to start 
special education needs and disability (SEND) 
swim group at Stamford Leisure Pool. 1:1 lessons 
and group lessons to be held, with sessions in the 
seating area to provide families with the 
opportunity socialise. 

Grantham Meres Leisure Centre is hosting 
holiday and activities (HAF) programmes, 
partnered with Fit For Sport to deliver during 
school holidays to enable equal opportunities for 
children to stay active. Funding is available for 
places. 

Continue to develop a programme of events 
in the community, in conjunction with local 
groups to provide opportunities for discussion 
around heathy lifestyles and to encourage 
participation in physical activity. 

Working with Inspire+ and LeisureSK Ltd to 
deliver an event in Wyndham Park alongside 
the Queen’s Baton Relay on Monday 11 July, 
this will include activities and sessions for: 

• Schools 

• Workplaces 

• Pre-school children 

• General public 

These activities will be accessible to all. 

45

A
ppendix 1



Encourage 
physical  
activity as a 
holistic  
approach to 
wellbeing,  
including a focus 
on  
mental health 

Supporting bids by local mental health groups to 
produce wellbeing maps of each of the market 
towns. Mindspace led the way in Stamford and 
projects are in progress with Don’t Lose Hope in 
Bourne and BHive in Grantham to produce this 
valuable map of local assets, in conjunction with 
Art Pop Up.  

Working with health partners to promote 
opportunities to be active to help with overall 
health and wellbeing. This includes the 
establishment of a mental health organisation in 
the Deepings to coordinate activity.  

Supported bid to enable the set up of a 
community café in the Deepings with Tonic 
Health, providing opportunity for individuals to 
discuss how they are feeling and reduce social 
isolation. Exploring links with physical activity 
including walking and exercise classes. 

LeisureSK Ltd and Council officers supported a 
Dementia Awareness event at Stamford Arts 
Centre on 16 May. A valuable opportunity to 
speak to residents about the benefits of physical 
activity for all, including dementia sufferers and 
the benefits of being active. 

Continue to support work in the Deepings to 
establish a mental health organisation to 
coordinate activity and work with residents in 
the Deepings on projects related to health 
and wellbeing.  

Support bid to produce wellbeing map for the 
Deepings area. 

Continue to work with health colleagues from 
the NHS neighbourhoods’ team and social 
prescribers on integrated care systems 
approach.  

46



Active 
Place 

Invest in the 
Council’s  
leisure facilities to  
ensure that they 
meet  
the needs of 
customers 

Customer Satisfaction Survey completed in 
March 2022 to collect feedback on current centre 
users to ensure facilities meet their expectations 
and needs. Information provided within LeisureSK 
Ltd Performance Report. 

At Full Council in December 2021 the Council 
committed to an investment of £10.7m to enable 
a full refurbishment and remodelling of Deepings 
Leisure Centre. A Project Manager has now been 
appointed and procurement to secure a design 
team and construction company commenced. 

Building condition surveys completed on leisure 
facilities to form basis of development of the 
Leisure Transformation Programme over the 
coming years. 

Continue to monitor customer satisfaction 
levels via surveys and other data to ensure 
that they meet the needs of customers. 

Procurement to secure a design team and 
construction company commenced for the 
Deepings Leisure Centre refurbishment.  

Work through building condition surveys and 
form a plan of action for delivery of the 
Leisure Transformation Programme. 

Explore 
opportunities  
to use parks and 
open  
spaces within the  
district 

Use of Council social media pages to promote 
green spaces across the district and activities 
available in local parks and open spaces. 

Links made with Greater Lincolnshire Nature 
Partnership to promote green tourism and health 
and wellbeing. 

Successful bid funded by a grant from the FCC 
Communities Foundation for new play area 
equipment for 9 years+ in Wyndham Park. 
Opening in July 2022, this will provide more 
opportunities for young children to participate in 
play activities. 

Continue to develop use of social media, 
webpages and other promotion of green and 
open spaces across the district.  

Continue to develop a programme of events 
and activities in Wyndham Park to attract 
visitors and provide opportunities to be active 
– LeisureSK Ltd attending event in July 2022 
to launch play park and provide a wide range 
of activities.  

Explore opportunities to use parks and 
equipment e.g. urban gyms to deliver health 
interventions.  

47



Active 
People 

Support a broad 
range  
of sport and 
physical  
activity 
opportunities  
that reflect the 
interests  
and needs of the  
community and 
visitors  
to the district 

Supporting development of Activity Finder with 
Active Lincolnshire. Online platform tool to make 
it easy for people to find sport and activity 
opportunities.  

New wellbeing walks launched from Bourne 
Leisure Centre every Friday morning. 

New class timetable across all of the leisure 
facilities. Innovative ideas to utilise the pool space 
at Stamford Leisure Pool and the gym at Bourne 
Leisure Centre to provide classes when there is 
no / limited access to sports hall. 

Half term swim crash courses provided at each of 
the leisure facilities including mermaid fins 
classes and rookies lifeguarding. 

Launch of LeisureSK Ltd app to provide free 
classes, meditation session and activities for 
people to access from anywhere.  

Continue to promote use of the Activity Finder 
online to enable residents to find activities 
more easily. Encourage other providers to 
sign up to the platform to ensure a wide range 
of activities are captured – aided by the 
production and data collection for wellbeing 
maps. 

LeisureSK Ltd to launch wellbeing walks from 
each of the centres by August 2021. 

Timetable and programming for leisure 
facilities continuously reviewed and new 
initiatives added to ensure broad range of 
activities on offer to residents and visitors.   

Continue to develop the LeisureSK Ltd app to 
provide new classes and up to date 
information on services and activities 
available. 

Work with the 
Council’s  
leisure provider  
and partners to 
run  
health 
intervention  
programmes that 
result  
in improved 
health  
and wellbeing for  

Exercise on Prescription scheme recommenced 
at Bourne Leisure Centre. 

LeisureSK Ltd working in partnership with One 
You Lincolnshire and Gloji to provide weight loss 
support via app. Referral required.  

Active Life classes relaunched at Grantham 
Meres Leisure Centre, providing exercise class 
and activities for those aged 50+.  

‘Man vs, Fat’ football group started at Grantham 
Meres Leisure Centre to provide opportunities to 

Exercise on Prescription to be delivered 
across all centres. 

Good Boost classes to be launched- 
delivering personalised exercise 
programmes, with a focus on people living 
musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions. 

Pre- and post-natal classes to launch from 
September 2022. 

 

48



residents and 
deliver  
outreach activities 
in  
our communities 

be active and facilitate weight loss and healthy 
lifestyles.  

Active 
System 

Recognise that  
physical activity is  
more than 
participation  
in sport and 
includes  
activities such as  
walking, dancing 
and  
gardening 

Council officers continue to engage with 
Lincolnshire County Council and other partners 
on the active travel agenda, attending a series of 
workshops to discuss projects.  

Working with Active Lincolnshire to support 
delivery of projects in local schools and 
community on promoting active travel 
opportunities and building confidence to cycle.  

Social media message from both the Council and 
LeisureSK Ltd promoting ways that residents can 
be physically active and information related to 
general health and wellbeing. 

New classes and initiatives launched such as 
Glow ‘n’ Flow at the Grantham Meres Leisure 
Centre, dancing classes in low lighting with glow 
sticks. 

Supporting the work of Don’t Lose Hope in 
Bourne to promote community garden.  

Continue to work with Lincolnshire County 
Council and other partners on projects to 
promote active travel.  

Ensure positive messages are communicated 
to residents in a variety of ways about how 
activity can be integrated into everyday life.  

Support creation of walking sport groups 
available and reintroduce programme of 
activities at leisure facilities.  

 

Facilitate 
partnerships  
and collaboration  
between 
authorities,  
organisations,  

Officers from the Council continue to contribute to 
the district wide health and wellbeing strategy. 

Working in partnership with a wide range of 
organisations utilising social media and 
webpages to collectively promote activities.  

Officer working group to create, present and 
adopt district health and wellbeing strategy.  

Continue to work with other organisations to 
promote activities and events taking place. 

49



communities, and  
groups to 
empower  
those who can 
make  
change 

LeisureSK Ltd signed up to the Armed Forces 
Covenant. The first step to engaging with 
Defence Employer Recognition Scheme and 
helps with recruitment of skilled ex-military 
personnel. Forming local links with the Prince 
William of Gloucester Barracks to engage with on 
a wide range of projects.  

Continue to work with and promote 
community groups that are providing valuable 
services in the community. 

 

50



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  

14 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-
Bellew 
Cabinet Member for Culture and 
Visitor Economy 

   

         
  

 

Queen's Baton Relay 

To provide an update to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
Grantham’s role in the Queen’s Baton Relay on 11 July 2022. 

 

 

Report Author 

Susie McCahon, Leisure Officer 

 
 07786 171414 

  s.mccahon@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director – Culture and 
Leisure 

25 May 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 31 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet 
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 

31 May 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

That Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Make any suggested improvements to the planned arrangements for the Queen’s 
Baton Relay in Grantham on 11 July 2022. 

 

51

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan (2020 – 2023) identified Healthy and Strong Communities as 

a key priority. To underpin this priority, the Council commits to investing in the health of our 

district and working effectively with partners for the benefit of communities. It also commits 

to building on, and celebrating, the rich heritage and culture of the district.  

1.2 Earlier in the year, the Council was approached by the Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth 

Games Team, requesting a visit to Grantham to consider inclusion on the Queen’s Baton 

Relay route. Following a tour of the local area, and discussions with officers from the 

Council, Grantham was successfully selected to feature on the route. Inclusion on the Relay 

celebrates everything Grantham has to offer, embracing local communities and the rich 

heritage and culture of the district.  

1.3 This provides a fantastic opportunity to promote health and wellbeing for residents and 

visitors in the lead up to the Commonwealth Games, and to work in partnership with local 

schools, organisations, businesses and community groups to celebrate the spirit of the 

Commonwealth Games.  

1.4 The Queen’s Baton Relay takes place every four years in the lead up to the Commonwealth 

Games. This year, Birmingham 2022 is the 16th official Queen’s Baton Relay – a journey 

across the Commonwealth, with the Queen’s Baton visiting all 72 nations and territories. 

The Relay began on 7 October 2021, with Her Majesty the Queen placing her message to 

the Commonwealth into the Baton. The Baton is now on its 294-day long journey to 

Birmingham. The journey of the Baton represents hope, solidarity and collaboration as it 

connects communities and unique cultures and shares inspirational stories. To visit 

Grantham, on this long journey across the world celebrating culture and communities, is a 

fantastic achievement and event for the town.  

1.5 The Baton will arrive in England on 4 July 2022. It will make a journey around the country, 

spending two days in each region, before culminating in a two-week tour of the West 

Midlands and Birmingham as the host city. 

1.6 Grantham has been selected to feature on the two-day route around the East Midlands, with 

the Baton visiting the region on 10 and 11 July 2022. The first day sees the Baton visit 

Northampton, Rutland Water, Leicester, Nottingham and Lincoln, before moving on to: 

Boston, Grantham, Loughborough, Derby and Buxton on day two. Given the limited time 

that the Baton is in the East Midlands, the visit of the Baton to South Kesteven is a cause 

for celebration and a superb opportunity to showcase Grantham. 

1.7 The Baton will arrive in Grantham on the morning of 11 July 2022 and start the journey 

around Grantham at 10:37am. The Relay route will start and finish in Wyndham Park, 

celebrating the Council’s Green Flag Park. The Relay will move along Red Cross Street, 

Castlegate, Avenue Road before returning along the riverside to Wyndham Park. The route 

can be found in Appendix One. 

1.8 The route is designed to celebrate Grantham’s heritage, taking in the sights of Sir Isaac 

Newton’s former school - The King’s School, and St Wulfram’s Church on historic Castlegate 

and out on to Avenue Road alongside the Council’s very own Guildhall Arts Centre. There 

is a strong desire to celebrate commonwealth communities and engage with local schools 

and young people. Furthermore, the route celebrates Grantham’s impressive green space, 

the Council’s Green Flag accredited Wyndham Park and along the riverside footpath, 

promoting sustainable and active travel.  

52



 

 
 

1.9 Schools, community groups, local clubs and organisations have been encouraged to line 

the route with banners and flags as the Relay passes through Grantham, celebrating our 

local community and the spirit of the Commonwealth Games.  

1.10 The Baton Relay will be televised and is an excellent opportunity to showcase Grantham as 

a town and the local community, promoting visitor economy. Both local and national press 

are aware of the event and the route is published on the Commonwealth Games website.  

It is anticipated that the Baton Relay will attract a lot of media attention in the run up to the 

Commonwealth Games. 

1.11 A public nomination process for Batonbearers was launched by the Commonwealth Games 

Team earlier in the year. There will be 2,022 Batonbearers in total, including school children, 

athletes, high profile sporting personalities, celebrities and sponsor representations. 

Batonbearers have been selected in all nine regions of England and reflect the diversity in 

communities across the country. 

1.12 For individuals to be nominated to become a Batonbearer they needed to meet the following 

criteria: 

- Always willing to take on a challenge and have a unique and inspiring story; 

- Has made a meaningful contribution to sport, education, the arts, culture, or charity;  

- Is a figure of inspiration that positively challenges others to achieve their best;  

- Has taken on a challenge or cause and made a positive impact within their community. 

1.13 Three local nominees have been successful is becoming a Batonbearer, as follows:  

• Rachael Bradley, part of South Kesteven District Council’s tenancy services team, 

successfully fought breast cancer and now works tirelessly to help sufferers. Following 

a 2020 diagnosis, Rachael was inspired to set up Breast Friends Grantham to raise 

awareness and offer support. The aim of the group, now at 100 members, is to help 

reduce anxieties, improve wellbeing and empower people. It is that work which prompted 

a successful nomination by the Council to Baton Relay organisers, describing Rachael 

as a true inspiration and an “…incredibly humble human being who is making a big 

impact in the local community.” 

• Hannah San Hose takes part in marathons to raise money for charity and is actively 

involved in Junior Park Run encouraging young people to be active. Hannah, is a primary 

school teacher, and volunteers in the local area, working with migrant communities and 

refugees. Throughout the pandemic Hannah was one of a team of people from a local 

faith group taking food parcels to those in need. Hannah has put together a team of 

retired teachers to work with recently arrived Afghan refugees, teaching English and 

promoting social integration. 

• Roy Redman is a passionate cyclist in the local area, supporting projects looking at 

improvements to cycling infrastructure and raising awareness of the opportunities 

available to be active and to enable sustainable commuting. Roy continues to work with 

local groups and organisations to create accessible routes and opportunities for 

everyone. 

1.14 The Council is working with the Commonwealth Games Team to organise the safe delivery 

of the Baton Relay event in Grantham and the Council’s responsibilities include road 

closures, crowd management and coordination of community involvement. The 

53



 

 
 

Commonwealth Games Team are responsible for all items of safety relating to the Baton 

and Batonbearer, including medical provision.  

1.15 The Council is working with the Safety Advisory Group of the Lincolnshire Event Safety 

Partnership to ensure there are appropriate arrangements in place for a safe and enjoyable 

event. 

1.16 Following the Baton Relay, an event will take place in Wyndham Park organised by Inspire+ 

(an independent sports charity) in conjunction with the Council and LeisureSK Ltd, to 

celebrate the Queen’s Baton Relay and the spirit of the Commonwealth Games. The event 

will provide opportunities for people of all ages to be active and promote healthy lifestyles. 

The aim is to encourage use of the park for recreation activity and promote the facilities on 

offer. 

1.17 A mass participation physical activity event for local schools, who will be lining the route to 

watch the Baton pass through Grantham, will take place. This will be followed by a 

workplace active challenge and activities for pre-school and general public participation. 

The indicative timings of this at the moment are: 

- 11:30 – 12:30 Schools mass participation event 

- 12:30 – 13:15 Workplace active challenge 

- 13:15 – 14:00 General public mass participation activities 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Council is working with local sports charity Inspire+ to engage schools and young 

people in the event. This will involve producing banners to line the route. There is a keen 

desire to celebrate the Baton’s arrival in the East Midlands and the Commonwealth Games 

taking place in England. 

2.2 The Council’s Communities Team are liaising with local community groups to encourage 

their involvement in the relay, lining the route with flags and banners celebrating the diverse 

mix of cultures and people. Working with Jubilee Life Church, thirty-four different nations will 

be represented and celebrated.  

2.3 Furthermore, the Council’s Leisure Team are contacting local clubs to encourage a 

presence along the route, promoting local sports and activities on offer. 

2.4 The Council’s Economic Development Team will work with local businesses on 

opportunities to be involved in the project.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report provides information to the Committee on an exciting event to be held within the 

district, with great opportunity to promote Grantham, it’s heritage and history, and celebrate 

local communities.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Not applicable. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 The Queen’s Baton Relay is an event to be noted and Grantham’s inclusion in the two-day 

tour of the East Midlands is something to be proud of and to be celebrated. The arrival of 

the Queen’s Baton Relay in Grantham provides so much opportunity to celebrate the spirit 

54



 

 
 

of local communities, embrace the history and culture of the town and provide opportunities 

for people of all ages to be active. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Council and partners will continue to promote the event. Additional communication and 

information will be provided to the general public, local schools, groups, organisations and 

businesses in the lead up to the event.  

6.2 All businesses, organisations and residents affected by any road closures will be 

communicated with in advance.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The costs associated with event primarily relate to event safety and infrastructure costs. 

These are predicted to be circa £5,000 and can be broken down as follows: 

Queen’s Baton Relay  

Road closures  £1,200.00 

First aid provision £500.00 

Radio hire £650.00 

Waste services £500.00 

Steward provisions £100.00 

Promotional material and leaflet distribution £500.00 

Miscellaneous £500.00 

Wyndham Park Event Hub  

PA system and services £500.00 

Electrical set up £500.00 

Refreshment provision £100.00 

Total £5,050.00 

7.2 Costs of the event will be met by the Council’s existing Arts and Festivals budget. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

(Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 As part of the event, the programme of activities provided in Wyndham Park will be 

accessible for all and inclusive.  

9.2 Schools and organisations attending will be responsible for Safeguarding of their groups. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

55



 

 
 

10.1 A full risk assessment, Risk Register and event management plan is being produced and 

discussions are ongoing with both the local Safety Advisory Group and the 

Commonwealth Games Team in the lead up to the event.  

10.2 A county-wide Safety Advisory Group will meet to discuss plans for the movement of the 

Baton around Lincolnshire.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Targeted sport and physical activity can be used to improve community cohesion and can 

have a positive impact on reducing incidents of anti-social behaviour is our communities. 

11.2 Working with local sports charity Inspire+ provides opportunities for young people to be 

engaged in volunteering and leadership programmes.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The movement of the Baton through Grantham utilises the riverside path promoting active 

travel and commuting opportunities. Encouraging residents to be more active, including 

active travel, not only can positively impact their health and wellbeing, but also reduces 

our carbon footprint. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One – Queen’s Baton Relay Route  

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



QUEEN
ELIZABETH

PARK

B1174

B1174

A52

A52

Grantham  
Bus Station

Grantham 
Train Station Crown Copyright and database  

rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018662.

START

W
ATERG

ATE

WYNDHAM
PARK

C
A

STLEG
ATE

C
A

STLEG
ATE

REDCROSS STREET

BROOK STREET

M
A

N
TH

O
R

PE
 R

O
A

D

HILL AVENUE

GRANTHAM

ST WULFRAM’S 
CHURCH

MIDDLEMORE YARD

SW
INEGATE

ELM
ERS STREET N

O
RTH

STREET SO
U

TH

FINK STREET

ELM
ERS

E STREET

W
ELH

A
M

 STREET
W

ELH
A

M
 STREET

ST CATHERINE’S ROAD 

WHARF ROAD 

SA
N

D
O

N
 RO

A
D

 

AVENUE ROAD

GEORGE STREET

GUILDHALL ARTS 
CENTRE

WYNDHAM  
WATER PLAY

57

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

14 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Lessons Learned from the Welcome Back Fund  

This report summarises the works, interventions and activities that have taken place using the 
Welcome Back Fund (WBF), and includes lessons learned and recommendations for improvement.  

 

Report Author 

Alice Atkins, Project Lead 

 
01476 406080 

 alice.atkins@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Jonathan Hinde, Head of Economic Development 20 May 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth & Culture 20 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 1 June 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision makers 

It is recommended that the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  
 
1. Notes the provisional incurred expenditure in respect of Welcome Back Fund and to 

consider  whether there are further lessons learned in relation to the operation of the 
Welcome Back Fund. 

59

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

The Background to the Report 
 

1.1 As part of the Corporate Plan (2020-2023), South Kesteven District Council is committed to 
developing the centres and high streets of our four town centres. Councils across England 
were given a share of £56m of the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) to 
support the return to high streets safely and help build back better from the pandemic. This 
funding was known as the “Welcome Back Fund” (the fund) and built on the £50m 
Reopening High Street Safely Fund (RHSSF).  
 

1.2 In February 2022, the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received a report confirming the Council had been allocated £252,909 from the Welcome 
Back Fund (WBF) and the illustrative proposed activities under development by the working 
group.  
 

1.3 The purpose of the WBF was to provide support to enable safe trading in public places for 
businesses and customers. There was a focus on high street or ‘District Centres’, as well 
as other public places that were at the heart of town gearing up to reopening safe and 
welcoming spaces. The funding was in place to deliver temporary enhancements until 31 
March 2022. 
 

1.4 The allocation could be spent across six strands of activity, as follows:  
 

• Support to develop an action plan for how the Council may begin to safely reopen the 
local economy 

• Communications and public information activity to ensure that reopening of local 
economies can be managed successfully and safely 

• Business-facing awareness raising activities to ensure that reopening of local economies 
can be managed successfully and safely 

• Temporary public realm changes to ensure that reopening of local economies can be 
managed successfully and safely 

• Support to promote a safe public environment for a local area’s visitor economy 

• Support to develop plans for responding to the medium-term impact of COVID-19 
including trialling new ideas particularly where these relate to the High Street ling new 
ideas particularly where these relate to the High Street 

 

1.5 Any activities carried out had to be procured in accordance with the European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) rules and have the appropriate branding relating to the Fund to 
be able to submit a successful claim.  
 
The structure of this report 

1.6 For ease of reading, this report builds upon 1 February 2022 report received by this 
Committee with the remainder of the content structured into three sections as follows: (a) 
an update on the projects delivered by the Council, (b) highlights of events and activities 
and their costings per town since the last report, and (c) lessons learned and 
recommendations for improvement.  

 

Section A: Projects delivered by the Council 
1.7 As highlighted in the previous report, collaboration took place with town councils and 

business groups across South Kesteven to implement a range of activities.  Table 1 details 
activities delivered and a breakdown of expenditure in the early stages by the Council. 
 

60



 

 
 

Table 1: activities delivered and a breakdown of expenditure in the early stages by 
the Council 

Activity Cost Location(s) 

Roadside banners installed 
throughout the town centres, 
promoting a safe and enjoyable 
shopping experience  

£13,335.40 Bourne, Grantham, Stamford and 
The Deepings 

The railings outside the Guildhall 
Arts Centre received a fresh coat of 
paint 

£9,761.00 Grantham 

A shop local radio campaign for 
Stamford 

£770.00 Stamford 

Total of Table 1 £23,866.40 

 

Section B: Highlights of events and activities since the last report 
 

1.8 The following paragraphs detail the events and activities undertaken since this Committee 
received a report (see Appendix One for images) and concludes with a summary table 
including total expenditure.  
 

• The Welcome Back Folk Festival: took place on 18 March in venues across Grantham. 
The event featured over 15 live musical performances from local performers as well as 
food, drink, market stalls, a caricaturist, circus entertainment from Pendragon Circus, 
and performances around the town by the Bourne Borderers mixed border morris dance 
team. The Welcome Back Fund was also used to cover lighting and security costs as 
well as 300 commemorative Welcome Back Folk Festival beer mats for members of the 
public.  Grantham Youth Fest also took place on 26 March in Grantham Market Place. 
The event included a temporary skateboarding park, street art, music, a graffiti art wall 
and other entertainment.  

 

• Bourne Youth Festival: took place on 18 February in Bourne and featured a circus skill 
workshop, and entertainers such as the Invisible Man and walkabout street theatre. 
Community and schools art workshops took place at Thurlby Primary School, Bourne 
Corn Exchange, Westfield Primary School and along Bourne High Street.  

 

• Bourne Night Light: took place on 19 March hosting an evening of lights, projections 
and entertainments. Buildings were illuminated and attendees were able to interact with 
live performers as well as witness an interactive sculptural light installation. In 
conjunction, the ‘Marvellous Mechanical Musical Machine’ was made available for 
children’s entertainment at Market Deeping. 

 

• Deeping Arts Around the Town Day took place on 16 February in Market Deeping, 
attracting over 300 attendees. Attractions included storytelling sessions, pop-up arts 
activities, visits from Disney princess characters and a puppet show by Nature Elly 
Barmpot Theatre production in association with Little Angel Theatre.  

 

• Stamford Arts Day: took place on 13 March which was co-organised by Art Pop-Up, a 
Stamford-based organisation and street artist Korp who brought his festival KorpFest to 
the town. The event attracted approximately 500 attendees and involved caricature 
artists, a live performance by music group The Birds and a creative workshop. 

 

61



 

 
 

• SK Let’s Move Challenges: took place across Market Deeping Market, Bourne Market, 
Stamford Red Lion Square and Grantham Market Place during the first week of March. 
The event was ran in partnership with One You Lincolnshire, Inspire+ and LeisureSK 
with the aim of supporting the physical wellbeing of residents. Attendees were invited to 
partake in a range of physical activities, receive a health M.O.T and enjoy fresh 
smoothies.  

 

• Town centre shopping app:  Through the Welcome Back Fund we have been able to 
fulfil a long held ambition to procure a ‘high street app’ that will link businesses, residents 
and visitors and provide a dedicated platform for these communities to come together 
for the purposes of leisure, hospitality and retail. The app has been named ‘HelloSK’ and 
is currently being trialled with business representatives from across the District prior to 
full launch in the summer  

 

• Branding for Grantham Town Centre: In support of the 2 externally funded Grantham 
based regeneration programmes: Future High Street Fund and High Street Heritage 
Action Zone we procured a branding agency to work with the various representative 
groups around the town to come up with a shared brand and identity that going forward 
will be used as part of the wider promotion of the town and to give a sense of identity 
and uniformity to the developing schemes. 

 

1.9 Table 2 depicts the activities delivered and total expenditure per activity, since the last 
report: 
 

Table 2: activities delivered and total expenditure per activity, since the last report 

Activity Cost Location(s) 

Events Deepings Fun Day (16 
February) 

£2,375.00 The Deepings 

Youth Festival (18 February) 
 

£3,649.69 Bourne 

Arts Festival (18 February) 
 

£5,541.00 Stamford 

Youth Festival (26 March) 
 

£4,160.00 Grantham 

SK Let’s Move Challenges, 
across all four towns (5 
March) 
 

£1,709.54 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Welcome Back Folk Festival 
and trial market (19 March) 
 

£10,760.37 Grantham 

Bourne Light Night (19 
March) 
 

£21,572.92 Bourne 

 Marketing for events £1,936.64 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

62



 

 
 

Shopping 
Bags 
 

Promotional bags to promote 
shopping in our four towns 
 

£7,800.00 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Public realm 
enhancements 
 

Replacement bins, themed 
for each town 
 

£8,721.28 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Repair and replacement of 
benches and street furniture 
in each town  
 

£16,774.00 
 

Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Replacement market stall 
covers 
 

£7,020.00 Bourne 

Tourism Notice Board £2,715.20 Grantham 

Planters and hanging 
baskets, for each town  
 

£9,187.01 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Photography 
campaign 
 

Commissioned photography 
of the four market towns to 
create a library of images for 
use in promotional, 
marketing and publicity 

£7,500.00 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

New ideas Branding brief to differentiate 
and promote a unique offer 

£16,625.00 Grantham 

Events Footfall Monitoring £2,499.00 The Deepings and 
Bourne 

Town Trails (including 
research), a small print run 
and a downloadable trail – 
which could also be added 
to the Town App once this is 
up and running 

£700.00 Bourne, Stamford and 
The Deepings 

Town centre shopping app £50,000.00 Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The 
Deepings 

Total of Table 2 £181,246.65 

  

COMBINED TOTAL OF TABLES 1 & 2 £205,113.05 

 

1.10 The outturn figure is only provisional and is subject to scrutiny to ensure the spend was 
incurred in accordance with the external approval spend criteria.  Therefore the final figure 
will not be known until the external validation work has been completed. 

1.11  

1.12 Officers had worked to ensure that the programme of events had been inclusive; events had 
been held in each Market Town and included a range of activities people of all abilities and 
ages could partake in. All events had been free of charge and had been fully accessible to 
disabled users and it was evident that a mix of different residents had attended them.  
 

1.13 Many projects had been delivered against a difficult backdrop of an immovable deadline, 
poor weather conditions and a spike in the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to difficult weather 
conditions brought on by Storm Eunice, many of the festivals had to be rearranged at very 

63



 

 
 

short notice.  However, all went ahead successfully due to the efforts of officers. The 
festivals received very positive media engagement, with coverage featured in publications 
such as Lincolnshire Today, the Lincolnite, the Stamford Mercury and the Grantham 
Journal. Activities organised as part of the Welcome Back Fund enabled the Council to build 
positive relationships with local businesses. 
 

1.14 The total amount defrayed by the Council was £205,113.05. This figure excludes the 
additional admin fee the Council is currently in the process of claiming back, which will 
equate to 4% of the total allocation amount. 

Section C: Lessons learned 

1.15 A lessons learned workshop was held on 25 April 2022 and facilitated by Alice Atkins and 
conducted with participants from the Welcome Back Fund Officer Group. The successes of 
the project were celebrated, and the following activities showcase how the funding was 
spent to boost footfall and encourage people back on to the High Streets safely, thereby 
supporting local businesses.  
 

1.16 As illustrated in Table 3, the lessons learned were categorised by nine areas of: Affordability 
and best value; guidance and documentation; leadership and managing the process; project 
principles; Inclusivity; risk management; stakeholder management and communication; 
technical and statutory issues; and understanding the market.  

Table 3: Lessons learned categorisation 

Area Definition 

Affordability and best 
value 

Projects are accurately costed as part of the development 
process including a realistic assessment of affordability to help 
contribute to a smooth procurement. The chosen project and 
procurement option represented Best Value. 

Guidance and 
documentation 

Appropriate Government guidance on standardisation of 
contracts were utilised. Project documentation was effectively 
controlled and managed and issued to the required quality in a 
timely manner enabling effective consideration prior to any 
significant project decisions being made. 

Leadership and 
managing the 
process 

The project was effectively led and managed with appropriate 
senior management and buy-in. Appropriate project planning and 
robust project management processes were evident to facilitate 
successful delivery. The project was allocated the dedicated and 
adequate resources to facilitate successful project delivery. 

Project principles The project had a clear vision and objectives set which aligned 
with the Council’s corporate and service strategies. 
Evidence of project options, evaluation of solution, contract 
management and all relevant project documentation. 

Inclusivity Inclusivity is incorporated as part of the overall project strategy. 
The inclusion of representatives from under-served and 
vulnerable groups should be considered to ensure a better 
understanding of the barriers faced by these groups. 

Risk Management A project risk register was in place and maintained throughout the 
project. Evidence that risks were being effectively quantified, 
mitigated and managed including appropriate escalation as 
required. 

64



 

 
 

 

Key Lessons Learned Summary 
 

1.17 Outlined in Table 4 is a summary of the key lessons learned.  
 

Table 4: Summary of the key lessons learned 

Category What could have been improved Recommendation for 
improvement 

Affordability and 
best value 

• The time constraints 
surrounding the project had 
often made it difficult to get 
more quotes than were 
necessary and this had meant 
best value for money had not 
always been achieved. 

• Clarity was not given around 
what projects came under the 
Reopening High Street Safely 
Fund (RHSSF) and the 
Welcome Back Fund (WBF). It 
was difficult to spend the full 
amount allocated from both of 
these in the timeframe 
provided. 

• A need to spend the total 
allocation of funding may lead 
to pressure to spend in a way 
which does not ensure best 
value for money. It is important 
to consider that all funding is 
public money. 

• Have fully costed, on the 
shelf, ideas so that the 
project team can be better 
prepared. 

 

Guidance and 
documentation 

• Government guidance around 
the claim had been unduly 
complicated and, although this 
could not be helped, a 
simplified version of the 

• Ensure that guidance 
around how funding can be 
spent is clear and 
communicated to external 
stakeholders. 

Stakeholder 
management and 
communication 

Stakeholder objectives and contributions were aligned with those 
of the project. A communication strategy and plan was in place 
and maintained throughout the project to ensure that stakeholders 
continued to be engaged with the project. 

Technical and 
statutory issues 

Appropriate technical and statutory / legal issues were addressed 
as early as possible in the project to avoid delays and additional 
costs arising from, for example, ground conditions, surveys and 
environmental issues. Evidence that any issues to emerge during 
the project were dealt with effectively and efficient in a timely 
manner. 

Understanding the 
market 

There was an appropriate awareness and understanding of the 
aspirations and concerns of potential service providers in the 
relevant market. The aim was to secure an affordable, well 
managed project and manage and mitigate any uncertainty so 
that potential suppliers were reassured about issues associated 
with the project. 

65



 

 
 

guidance could have been 
developed to be shared 
externally. 

• Some of the project briefs had 
been too vague and further 
clarification could have been 
provided, particularly around 
design work.  

• It was not always clear how the 
money was split between the 
towns. This could have been 
better documented and 
managed along the way. 

• There were discrepancies with 
respect to the implementation 
of the procurement procedures. 

• Ensure that structured and 
approved briefs are 
developed with clear 
deadlines agreed. 

• Ensure that officers 
followed the specific 
procurement procedures to 
ensure full compliance in 
accordance with the 
procurement procedures  
 

Leadership and 
managing the 
process 

• Key team members could have 
been identified at an earlier 
stage.  

• Project delivery support could 
have been introduced at an 
earlier stage. Some projects did 
not deliver to the maximum of 
the potential scope as officers 
were undertaking business as 
usual as well as pulling WBF 
activities in.  

• Too many progress meetings 
were cancelled which allowed 
slippage and consequently the 
inability to direct project support 
where it was required.   

• Despite instances of good 
communication, some teams 
and individuals were working 
too independently and there 
was a lack of overall 
understanding in respect to the 
full range of projects being 
undertaken. Greater 
communication between 
officers could have allowed for 
unspent funding to be allocated 
elsewhere.  

• No feedback was provided on 
events undertaken, especially 
in the face of obstacles which 
had been overcome.   

• At times the approval process 
was a little unwieldy and too 
many opinions sometimes led 
to delays. 

• Plan all activity at the 
outset, including identifying 
project support and 
resource allocation.  

• Maintain the meeting 
schedule as a driver for the 
project and receive regular 
updates from task and 
finish groups or individual 
project leads. Ensure 
subgroups meet frequently.  

• Introduce task and finish 
groups such as the one set 
up for the events. This 
would allow management 
of the events programme 
and would leave the 
individual event 
coordinators to deliver their 
own work. It would also 
allow for cross team 
working and support 
especially in relation to 
event marketing and event 
management.  

• Individual ideas and free 
thinking should be 
encouraged and then 
agreed plans costed as 
soon as possible.  

• That a review of available 
skills and experience is 
undertaken with partner 
organisations and when 
experience is lacking in 
certain areas, 

66



 

 
 

consideration is given to 
sharing resources and / or 
accessing external advice. 

Project principles • The principles of the project 
had been set out initially but 
these could have been clearer 
and further clarity given. The 
whole process could have 
begun sooner than it did.  

• The team that met was too 
large and could have been 
honed down to a tighter team 
which met more frequently.  

• The inbox which was set up for 
the project was not fully utilised. 

• Teams should meet at the 
earliest possible 
opportunity to get a timely 
handle on goals and 
actions. 

 

Inclusivity • The programme had been 
inclusive; events had been held 
in each Market Town and 
included a range of activities 
people of all abilities and ages 
could partake in. It was evident 
that a mix of different residents 
had attended the events.  

• All events had been free of 
charge and had been fully 
accessible to disabled users.  

• The project allowed for the 
Council to build positive 
relationships with local 
businesses. 

N/A 

Risk 
Management 

• There had been no disaster 
recovery process in place.  

• The time of year had not been 
factored into the planning of 
some projects. For example, 
the implementation of hanging 
baskets had been scheduled 
for February which was not 
appropriate, the cleaning of the 
public realm had to be 
abandoned due to the time of 
year it was scheduled to take 
place.  

• There was a consensus 
nationally within local 
authorities that the March 
deadline was too rigid and did 
not allow for making use of the 
summer weather. 

• Despite this, many projects had 
been delivered against a 
difficult backdrop of a tight 

• Ensure a disaster recovery 
process is in place.  

• Consider the time of year 
and likely weather 
conditions whilst planning 
events at the first instance. 

 

67



 

 
 

deadline, poor weather 
conditions and a spike in the 
pandemic.  

Stakeholder 
management and 
communication 

• It was never explained 
externally what the funding 
could or could not be used for. 
Member expectations could 
have been managed better.  

• The project team could have 
collectively supported town 
council conversations better. 

• Ensure Member buy-in 
from the outset of the 
project. 

Technical and 
statutory issues 

• There were limitations as to 
what the funding could or could 
not be used for and this created 
some issues. 

N/A 

Understanding 
the market 

• Market consultation had led to 
the implementation of a Folk 
Festival in Grantham which had 
never taken place previously. 
Feedback of the event was 
overwhelmingly positive as a 
result. 

• We did not necessarily deliver 
everything the market wanted 
and some quick wins had not 
been acted on, for example 
cleaning the streets. Despite 
this, market feedback was very 
positive following the delivery of 
events.  

• More comprehensive 
consultation process to 
take place. 

 

1.18 The Welcome Back Fund Officer Group acknowledged that the total allocation of £252,909 
had not been spent and the following reasons for this were identified. 

 

• The immovable March deadline had been too rigid and had not allowed for utilisation of 
the summer weather. For example, the planned deep cleaning of the public realm had 
to be abandoned due to issues relating to the time of year it was scheduled to take place. 
This issue may have been resolved if funding guidelines had allowed for activities to be 
paid for prior to the deadline and then undertaken at a later date, however all activity had 
to be both defrayed and undertaken by 31 March.  

• As poor weather and storms meant that additional officer time had to be spent on 
rearranging postponed events, this prevented the development of additional activities 
using remaining funding.  

• The time constraints surrounding the project combined with restricting procurement 
procedures had also made it difficult for unspent funding to be allocated elsewhere. It is 
recommended that any future funding opportunities should involve the introduction of 
project delivery support at the earliest stage. This would direct support to officers who 
are undertaking business as usual, as well as pulling WBF activities in.  

• Meeting schedules should be maintained as a driver for the project and regular updates 
received from task and finish groups or individual project leads.  

68



 

 
 

• The government guidance around the claim had been unduly complicated.  A simplified 
version of the guidance could have been developed to be shared externally. 

 
 

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The second phase of initiatives and activities to help the recovery of Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The Deepings were delivered following the festive period and involved 
continued engagement with the Business Clubs, Town Councils, local business owners 
and leaders. 
 

2.2 The officer working group noted the feedback received at the previous meeting of the 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Available Options Considered 

3.1 Not applicable as this report was requested by the Committee. 

Preferred Option 

4.1 Not applicable.  

Reason for the Recommendations 

5.1 Not applicable.  

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 To consider the advice offered on lessons learned by the Culture and Visitor Economy 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the operation of the Welcome Back Fund. 

Financial Implications  

The Welcome Back Fund was used to support high streets across the four South Kesteven 
towns, as well as to encourage visitors, particularly in the later part of the 2021/22 year, 
when trade is needed to sustain businesses over the Winter and Spring months 
 

7.1 Both claims were submitted to MHCLG retrospectively and is subject to their audit. Whilst 
there was no match-funding requirement from the Council, grant funding was only claimable 
in arrears, after the correct evidence has been sent to Government and approved. As such, 
all activity had to be funded up front from within current budgets. There was a Funding 
Agreement in place between the Government and the Council which set out clear and 
detailed criteria which had to be adhered to, in order to ensure the grant could be claimed 
successfully. It was ensured that the Council did not create on-going financial obligations 
beyond the agreed funding and therefore the use of the Fund was of a one-off nature. 
 

7.2 The Fund had to be spent by 31 March 2022 and a total of £205,113.05 was defrayed by 

this deadline. The Council initiated the process of claiming this amount back and has 

documentary evidence at hand to demonstrate that the procurement of works were 

compliant with ERDF regulations.  The final amount that can be claimed will only be known 

once the audit of the expenditure has been completed by Government. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

Legal and Governance Implications  

69



 

 
 

8.1 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives the Council a general power of competence to do 

anything that individuals may generally do. 

8.2 The Council complied with all laws, regulatory requirements and guidance on COVID-19 

when delivering the programme. There are other Legal considerations in the holding of 

some activities which officers were fully aware of. 

8.3 Failure to comply with any grant conditions would constitute an event of default which would 

allow the Secretary of State to terminate the grant funding agreement, cease further grant 

payments or seek to clawback grant monies paid. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No issues identified. 
 

Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No issues identified. 
 

Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No issues identified. 
 

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District Council’s 

declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 No issues identified. 

Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No issues identified. 
 

Background Papers 

14.1 Progress update on the Welcome Back Fund and its related projects, Report to Culture and 
Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, published on 1 February 2022, 
available online at:  
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32311/Welcome%20Back%20Fund
%20Update%20and%20Next%20Steps.pdf 
 

Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One: Images from 2022 events and interventions   

70

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32311/Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Update%20and%20Next%20Steps.pdf
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32311/Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Update%20and%20Next%20Steps.pdf


Page 1 of 8 
 

Appendix One: Images from 2022 events and interventions 

 

Welcome Back Fund: Period January – March 2022 

As part of the national program of Welcome Back funding supplied by the European 

Regional Development Fund (ERDF), South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) was 

awarded £252,909 for the delivery of projects to welcome residents and visitors back 

to town centres to socialise, shop, and work safely.  

Following the success of the 2021 festive events and interventions, which included 

the design and hanging of Christmas banners, the provision of festive street 

entertainment and improvements to town centres including the installation of new 

information boards outside the Guildhall in Grantham, further events and projects 

were successfully undertaken across the district.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

71

Appendix 1



Page 2 of 8 
 

Welcome Back Folk Festival 

The Welcome Back Folk Festival took place on 18 March in venues across 

Grantham. The event featured over 15 live musical performances from local 

performers as well as food, drink, market stalls, a caricaturist, circus entertainment 

from Pendragon Circus, and performances around the town by the Bourne Borderers 

mixed border morris dance team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72



Page 3 of 8 
 

Deeping Arts Day 

Deeping Arts Around the Town Day took place on 16 February in Market Deeping, 

attracting over 300 attendees. Attractions included storytelling sessions, pop-up arts 

activities, visits from Disney princess characters and a puppet show by Nature Elly 

Barmpot Theatre production in association with Little Angel Theatre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



Page 4 of 8 
 

Bourne In Lights 

Bourne In Lights took place on 19 March hosting an evening of lights, projections 

and entertainments. Buildings were illuminated and attendees were able to interact 

with live performers as well as witness an interactive sculptural light installation. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



Page 5 of 8 
 

Get SK Moving 

SK Let’s Move Challenges took place across Market Deeping Market, Bourne Market, 
Stamford Red Lion Square and Grantham Market Place during the first week of March. 
The event was ran in partnership with One You Lincolnshire, Inspire+ and LeisureSK 
with the aim of supporting the physical wellbeing of residents. Attendees were invited 
to partake in a range of physical activities, receive a health M.O.T and enjoy fresh 
smoothies. 
 

 

  

75



Page 6 of 8 
 

Grantham Youth Fest 

Grantham Youth Fest took place on 26 March in Grantham Market Place. The event 

included a temporary skateboarding park, street art, music, a graffiti art wall and 

other entertainment. 

 

  

76



Page 7 of 8 
 

Stamford Arts Day 

Stamford Arts Day took place on 13 March and was co-organised by Art Pop-Up, a 

Stamford-based organisation and street artist Korp who brought his festival KorpFest 

to the town. The event attracted approximately 500 attendees and involved 

caricature artists, a live performance by music group The Birds and a creative 

workshop. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

77



Page 8 of 8 
 

Welcome Back Towns Photography 

Photography was commissioned of the four market towns to create a library of 

images for use in promotional, marketing and publicity. Some images were used to 

display on banners around the towns. 

 

78



Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2022/23 

WORK PROGRAMME 

 

 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

 
14 June 2022 

Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Year 
End Update 

South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
Lead Officer: Robert Warburton 

To retain oversight of the 
performance management 
arrangements at a strategic 
level 
 

Regular updates A High Performing 
Council  

Welcome Back 
Fund – lessons 
Learnt 

Overview of the works, interventions and 
activities that have taken place using the 
Welcome Back Fund (WBF) 
 
Lead Officer: Alice Atkins 

To note the provisional 
incurred expenditure in 
respect of WBF and to 
consider whether there are 
further lessons learned in 
relation to the operation  
 

Further update at a 
future meeting 
requested by the 
Committee on 1 

February 2022. 

Growth and our 
Economy 

Performance of 
LeisureSK Ltd 

Six monthly update on the performance of 
LeisureSK Ltd 
 
Lead Officer: Susie McCahon 
 

To consider the 
performance of LeisureSK 
Ltd 

Chairman’s request 
June 2021 

Healthy 
and Strong 
Communities 

Sport and Physical 
Activity Strategy 

To receive an update on the Sports and 
Physical Activity Strategy action plan  
 
Lead Officer: Susie McCahon 

To scrutinise performance 
on how the Council, 
together with partners, is 
delivering improvements in 
the provision and 
participation levels of sport 

Draft strategy 
approved by 
Committee 
September 2022 
 
6 monthly update 
following adoption of 

Healthy 
and Strong 
Communities 

79

A
genda Item

 11



REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

and physical activity across 
the district 

Strategy by Cabinet 
in December 2022 

Queen’s Baton 
Relay 

To provide an update on Grantham’s role in 
the Queen’s Baton Relay  

Lead Officer: Susie McCahon 

 

To note the arrangements 
for the Queen’s Baton Relay 
in Grantham on 11 July 
2022 
 

Requested by CMT 
and portfolio holder 

Healthy 
and Strong 
Communities 

POTENTIAL FUTURE ITEMS 

Visitor Economy 
Strategy and 
Action Plan 

To discuss content for inclusion in a Visitor 
Economy Strategy to assist and promote 
growth in South Kesteven’s visitor economy  
 
Lead Officer: Jon Hinde  

To identify future 
opportunities and suggest 
actions needed to support 
the sector in a structured 
and consistent manner 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

Update on Heritage 
Action Zone in 
Grantham 

 
 
Lead Officer: Jon Hinde 

To provide update on key 
projects identified for 
delivery at previous 
programme manager update 
in September 2021 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

Refresh of the 
Cultural Strategy 

To discuss and agree content for the planned 
refresh of the Cultural Strategy 
 
Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield 

To ensure a collaborative 
approach to service delivery 
for arts and culture across 
the district, with clear links 
to Corporate Plan objectives 
 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

Review of events 
and festivals and 
the councils role 
within them 

To consider options for the delivery of 
festivals and events across the district 
 
Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield 

To review the role of the 
Council in providing events 
and festivals and agree the 
future strategy and direction 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

80



REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

Sport and Physical 
Activity Strategy 
Action Plan six-
monthly update 

To receive an update on the Sports and 
Physical Activity Strategy action plan  
 
Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield 

To scrutinise performance 
on how the Council, 
together with partners, is 
delivering improvements in 
the provision and 
participation levels of sport 
and physical activity across 
the district 

 Healthy 
and Strong 
Communities 

REMIT 

The remit of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist 

with the development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

• Arts 

• Heritage 

• Markets and Fairs 

• Sports 

• Visitor Economy 

 

 

 

 

  

81



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes from the meeting held on 5 April 2022
	Minutes

	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	6 Corporate Plan Key Performance Year End Update
	Appendix 1

	7 Performance of LeisureSK Ltd
	Appendix 1

	8 Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
	Appendix 1

	9 Queen's Baton Relay
	Appendix 1

	10 Welcome Back Fund - lessons Learnt
	Appendix 1

	11 Work Programme 2022-23

